AD-A03	LAFAYETTE IND PURDUE LAB FOR APPLIED INDETC F/G 9/2 ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND DOCUMENTATION OF THE INTERNATIOETC(U) N00014-76-C-0732 NL												
	OF 2 A036457					A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR A CONT					Harrison Marine		A more series of the series of
A definition of the second sec								A second		Harrison and the second			
	Description and the second sec					Antarovin Sectors Sect		Transition Transition Transition Transition Transition Transition Transition		ESPARIO ESSANCE Response Halforda			
	Telever												
		eranari Man-			The Walter Street							Tenner Line Billion Billion	
							Berran and			and the second s			$\begin{array}{c} \frac{\lambda \cdot \left(M \right) }{\left(\begin{array}{c} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} \right)} \left(\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\$
	and a	Benetik.			at diser	and the second			<u> </u>	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	6		1 ^m

ADA 036457

· . .

· · ·

•

12



NOT

DISTRIBUTION FINTEMENT A

Approved for public relicien, Distillation Delicited

This Report is Published as Part of Engineering Experiment Station Bulletin 143 Series

Schools of Engineering Purdue University West Lafayette, Indiana 47907

(9) Final rept. 1 Feb 76-31 Jan 72 1 SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered) READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE 2. GOVT ACCESSION NO. 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER 1. REPORT NUMBER NR049-388 SIGNIFICANT ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND DOC- . TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERED UMENTATION OF THE INTERNATIONAL PURDUE WORKSHOP ON INDUSTRIAL COMPUTER SYSTEMS PART VI. & GUIDELINES Final 2/1/76 - 1/31/77 FOR THE DESIGN OF MAN/MACHINE INTERFACES FOR . PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER PROCESS CONTROL 8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(s) AUTHOR 15 N00014-76-C-0732 PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK 9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS Purdue Laboratory for Applied Industrial Control Schools of Engineering, Purdue University West Lafayette, Indiana 47907 11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS REPORT 11 Department of the Navy Janua v 1977 Office of Naval Research NUMBER OF 88 + xxx//2 Arlington, Virginia 22217 15. SECURITY CLASS. 14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(If different from Controlling Office) 15a. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE 16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimited. 17. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered in Block 20, if different from Report) Approved for public release; distribution unlimited. 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) COPY AVAILABLE TO DDG EDES NOT PERMIT FULLY LEGIBLE PRODUCTION ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identify by block number) This volume represents Part v of a six volume set reproducing the major work accomplished by the International Purdue Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems during the past eight years. This material is reprinted from the Minutes of the Workshop and represents some of the Work carried out by the Man/Machine Communications Committee of the Workshop.

DD 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE S/N 0102-014-6601

20.

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND DOCUMENTATION OF THE INTERNATIONAL PURDUE WORKSHOP ON INDUSTRIAL

COMPUTER SYSTEMS

PART VI

GUIDELINES FOR THE DESIGN OF MAN/MACHINE INTERFACES FOR PROCESS CONTROL

Prepared for Department of the Navy Office of Naval Research

January 1977

ATTENSION 14 NTIS White Section D.C Butt Section UNANNOUNCED JUSTIFICATION BY DISTRIBUTION /AVAILABILITY CODES DISTRIBUTION /AVAILABILITY CODES DIST. AVAIL. and or SPECIAL DIST.

PRECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

Distribution is Unlimited

Purdue Laboratory for Applied Industrial Control Schools of Engineering Purdue University West Lafayette, Indiana 47907

FOREWORD

This material is published as part of Contract N00014-76-C-0732 with the Office of Naval Research, United States Department of the Navy, entitled, <u>The International Purdue</u> <u>Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems and Its Work in</u> <u>Promoting Computer Control Guidelines and Standards</u>. This contract rpovides for an indexing and editing of the results of the Workshop Meetings, particularly the Minutes, to make their contents more readily available to potential users. We are grateful to the United States Navy for their great help to this Workshop in this regard.

Theodore J. Williams

PRECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	ge
Report Documentation Page	i
Foreword	v
List of Figures and Table	x
Background Information on the Workshop xii	i
Origin of Guidelines	li
Introduction	x
Purpose and Scope	ci
How to Think About Your MMIF Design Task xxii	i
Outline Overview	x
SECTION 1 - OVERALL OPERATIONS REQUIREMENTS	1
1.1 Process Requirements	1
.1 Process Characteristics	1
.2 Process Controls	6
1.2 Personnel Requirements	8
.1 Who Uses the Console	8
.2 Modes of Operation	10
.3 Security and Safety	12
.4 Management Objectives and Restrictions .	12
.5 Government	13
.6 Pacing	13
SECTION 2 - CONTROL CENTER REQUIREMENTS	14
2.1 Management Requirements	14
.1 MMIF Hardware Restrictions	14

FECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

the set of the set

vii

. .

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Cont.)

		Page
	.2 Operator Restrictions	15
	.3 Records and Logs	17
2.2	Environmental Factors	18
	.1 Man-Centered Environmental Factors	18
	.2 Machine Centered Environment Factors	20
	.3 Physical Layout	20
SECTION 3	- MAN/MACHINE INTERFACE DESIGN FACTORS .	22
3.1	Organization of the Design Approach	22
3.2	Human Factors Engineering	27
	.1 Decision Making	27
	.2 Motivation	30
	.3 Arousal	30
	.4 Response Time	32
	.5 Workloading	33
	.6 Encoding/Decoding	35
	.7 Job Aids	37
	.8 Training	38
	.9 Psychological "Fit"	39
3.3	Translator Functional Requirements	40
	.1 Translator-to-Man Requirements	40
	.2 Man-to-Translator Requirements	45
SECTION 4	- IMPLEMENTATION	. 48
4.1	Methodology	48
4.2	Presentation	49

1.

viii

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Cont.)

Page

٤.

E TELEVISIE

4.3	Manipulation	58
4.4	Task-Technique Characterization	64
4.5	Device Usage Characteristics	67
4.6	Example Evaluation Tree	74
SECTION 5	CI OCCADY	
SECTION 5	- GLUSSARY	75
5.1	Supplementary Glossary	78
SECTION 6	- BIBLIOGRAPHY	79
6.1	Supplementary Listing of Man-Machine Interface Articles and Books	87

ix

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLE

Figure numbers used here are the same as those assigned to these figures in their previous publication in the Minutes of the International Purdue Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems.

1 .

Page

INTRODUCTION

	Model	
SECTION 1	- OVERALL OPERATIONS REQUIREMENTS	
1.1	MMIF Guideline Flowchart	
	FIGURE 1.0 - Personnel Subsystem	2
	- Process Subsystem	3
SECTION 3	- MAN/MACHINE INTERFACE DESIGN FACTORS	
3.2	Human Factors Engineering	
	FIGURE 3.2 - General Internal Operator Model	8
SECTION 4	- IMPLEMENTATION	
4.3	Manipulation	
	FIGURE 4.3 - Manipulative Device Classification 6	0
4.4	Task-Technique Characterization	
	FIGURE 4.4.1 - Task Technique Characterization 6	5
	FIGURE 4.4.2 - Example Information Organization 6	6
4.5	Device Usage Characteristics	
	FIGURE 4.5.1 - Fixed-Function Keyboard Characteristics 6	8

RECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLE

					Pa	age
	FIGURE	4.5.2	-	Variable Function Keyboard Characteristics		69
	FIGURE	4.5.3	-	Light Pen Characteristics		70
	FIGURE	4.5.4	-	Touch Screen Characteristics		71
	FIGURE	4.5.5	-	Voice Recognition Characteristics	•	72
6	Example	e Evalu	ati	ion Tree		
	FIGURE	4.6	-	Example Education Tree	•	73
	TABLE	4.2	-	Presentation Tasks, Techniques and Devices		51

4.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON THE WORKSHOP

The International Purdue Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems, in its present format, came about as the result of a merger in 1973 of the Instrument Society of America (ISA) Computer Control Workshop with the former Purdue Workshop on the Standardization of Industrial Computer Languages, also cosponsored by the ISA. This merger brought together the former workshops' separate emphases on hardware and software into a stronger emphasis on engineering methods for computer projects. Applications interest remains in the use of digital computers to aid in the operation of industrial processes of all types.

The ISA Computer Control Workshop had itself been a renaming in 1967 of the former Users Workshop on Direct Digital Computer Control, established in 1963 under Instrument Society of America sponsorship. This Workshop in its annual meetings had been responsible for much of the early coordination work in the field of direct digital control and its application to industrial process control. The Purdue Workshop on Standardization of Industrial Computer Languages had been establsihed in 1969 on a semiannual meeting basis to satisfy a widespread desire and need expressed at that time for development of standards for languages in the industrial computer control area.

The new combined international workshop provides a forum for the exchange of experiences and for the development of guidelines and proposed standards throughout the world.

xiii

Regional meetings are held each spring in Europe, North America and Japan, with a combined international meeting each fall at Purdue University. The regional groups are divided into several technical committees to assemble implementation guidelines and standards proposals on specialized hardware and software topics of common interest. Attendees represent many industries, both users and vendors of industrial computer systems and components, universities and research institutions, with a wide range of experience in the industrial application of digital systems. Each workshop meeting features tutorial presentations on systems engineering topics by recognized leaders in the field. Results of the workshop are published in the Minutes of each meeting, in technical papers and trade magazine articles by workshop participants, or as more formal books and proposed standards. Formal standardization is accomplished through recognized standards-issuing organizations such as the ISA, trade associations, and national standards bodies.

The International Purdue Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems is jointly sponsored by the Automatic Control Systems Division, the Chemical and Petroleum Industries Division, and the Data Handling and Computations Division of the Instrument Society of America, and by the International Federation for Information Processing as Working Group 5.4 of Technical Committee TC-5.

xiv

The Workshop is affiliated with the Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineering through the Data Acquisition and Control Committee of the Computer Society and the Industrial Control Committee of the Industrial Applications Society, as well as the International Federation of Automatic Control through its Computer Committee.

xvii

ORIGIN OF GUIDELINES

This is a reprint of the set of guidelines developed by the Man/Machine Communications Committee of the International Purdue Workshop on Industrial Computer Systems.

R. F. Carroll, Chairman Joseph S. Alford Paul M. Augenstein Robert A. Williamson Renzo Dallimonti Bob L. Hartway Fred J. Martino George T. Paulissen Daniel R. Shern James B. Fortier Donald G. Kempfer Thomas M. Furlan John Zarrella Richard D. Thompson

The Committee:

B.F.Goodrich Chem. Co.
Eli Lilly & Co.
Taylor Instruments
The Foxboro Company
Honeywell Inc.
Los Alamos Scientific Lab
Macro Corp.
Shell Development Co.
The Procter & Gamble Co.
PPG Industries
Standard Oil of Ohio
Inland Steel
Acco Bristol Div.
Applied Automation Inc.

Affiliation

DISCLAIMER

The committee recognizes that the present form of the Guidelines raises more questions than it answers. This is because its original intention is to provide the designer only with a proper state of mind one which prepares him for receiving useful information

PRECEDING PAGE BLANK NOT FILMED

rather than the information itself! Also, the term "man" is used only as a convenience term to imply operator, person, human or mankind, whenever the latter terms could have been more specifically utilized.

INTRODUCTION

The growing use of computer control systems with their large information and control data bases is focusing increasing attention on the problem of interfacing the human operator in the system with the process and the control computer. There is much that remains to be learned about the optimum coordination of men and machines, and the need to specify and design operating interfaces is a current problem in every process control project.

There is a need for a systematic approach to the design of man/machine interfaces. These guidelines are an attempt to provide an orderly thought process for the ultimate specification of an effective MMIF, or operator's console, as opposed to the details of implementation. It is intended to be both process and interface device independent.

The guideline is organized in a "top-down" format. The primary decisions relating to the overall scope of the job to be performed are examined first. Out of this top-level view, the requirements that impinge upon interface design are identified and ultimately combined with human factors engineering to create a functional specification.

To provide a frame of reference, a Man/Machine System Model is postulated which is diagrammed in Figure i.l. Two important subsystems are defined:

> The personnel subsystem The machine subsystem

The Man/Machine Interface (MMIF) is that boundary between the two subsystems across which information and control manipulation flows. In physical terms, it is typically the face of a console which contains displays and keyboards of various types. The hardware and software behind this boundary participates in translating human inputs to control signals and process inputs into data displays for humans. It will be termed the Man/Control System Translator. The boundary between this translator and the computer is called the Man/Computer Interface or MCIF. In a similar fashon, we have the Process/Computer Translator, and the Process/Computer Interface, or PCIF.

The guidelines develop an approach which:

- 1. Reviews the objectives of an overall system operation and helps identify a set of constraints for the process and personnel subsystems.
- 2. Identifies important characteristics of the operations control center relevant to the system's constrained objectives.

- 4. Identifies the important functional characteristics of the MMIF.
- 5. Considers implementation techniques of the MMIF from consideration of these functional requirements.



THE MAN-MACHINE SYSTEM MODEL

FIGURE i.1

PURPOSE AND SCOPE

Purpose:

The purpose of this document is to serve as a guideline for the definition of a computer-directed process control operator's interface. This interface will be defined as the "Man/Machine Interface", or MMIF.

Scope:

This guideline is intended to be both process and device independent. It deals with the functional requirements of the interface and the corresponding functional methods of implementation.

The guideline is organized in a "top-down format. The high level and primary decisions relating to the functions to be performed are examined first. From this, the MMIF requirements may finally be defined and specified.

XXIII

HOW TO THINK ABOUT YOUR MMIF DESIGN TASK

Key Points of Guideline

(Referenced by Section Number)

1. (0.0) TOP DOCUMENT

The Committee views this Guideline as the TOP DOCUMENT (hitherto unavailable) for MMIF guideline literature:

Total MMIF

Guideline

Literature



Purdue (TOP DOCUMENT) - Concept; Functional

Others (SUPPORTIVE) - Details; Configuration

This Guideline outlines a SYSTEMATIC THOUGHT PROCESS for:

- Identifying the STARTING POINT for design (which varies with application: one can enter this process wherever suitable);
- (2) Establishing a CONCEPTUAL design approach;
- (3) Producing a FUNCTIONAL design;
- and (4) Determining a METHOD for IMPLEMENTING it.
- 2. (0.0) PROCESS/DEVICE INDEPENDENT

Hense this Guideline is APPLICATION (process/device) INDEPENDENT. Other references (see bibliography) provide guidelines for CONFIGURING a functional design for a particular APPLICATION (spacing of keys, size of displays, etc.).

They are SUPPORTIVE of this Guideline and should be used with it.

RECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

3. (4.0) INFORMATION EXCHANGE

The MMIF implements an INFORMATION EXCHANGE between MAN AND PROCESS:

xxiv



3 functions are involved:

- (1) GENERATION of information from process data
- (2) PRESENTATION of information to man
- (3) MANIPULATION of information by man

4. (0.0) 2 MACHINES, 3 LANGUAGES, 3 TRANSLATORS

The term "man-machine-interface" is generic. In process control 2 MACHINES are involved:

- (1) CONTROL SYSTEM
- (2) PROCESS





Hence, 3 LANGUAGES are present:

- (1) MAN
- (2) CONTROL SYSTEM
- (3) PROCESS

requiring 3 TRANSLATORS, which are 3 VERSIONS of the MMIF:



CONTROL SYSTEM

XXV

- CONTROL SYSTEM/PROCESS Interface translates process sensed signals into Control System internal signals;
- MAN/CONTROL SYSTEM Interface translates Control System internal signals into human displays and controls;
- (3) MAN/PROCESS Interface entire control system considered as translator.

* 5. TRANSPARENCY

- * OVERRIDING OBJECTIVE of MMIF design is a completely TRANSPARENT MAN/PROCESS TRANSLATION.
- * AVOID IMPOSING TRANSLATOR CHARACTERISTICS on the information exchange.

6. (0.0) TOP-DOWN APPROACH

Achieve this objective by a TOP-DOWN approach to design:

- (1) NEEDS FIRST define the problem before choosing the solution;
- (2) CONCEPT FIRST a well-thought-out concept begets details which are CONSISTENT and COMPLIMENTARY to it; changes are EVOLUTIONARY EXTENSIONS of it;
- (3) AVOID "UPSIDE-DOWN" design ~ the inverse of (1) and (2) wherein details and changes define a new concept.

7. (3.0) 4 PHASES

This approach has 4 PHASES (see Figure 3.1):

- <u>I</u> Identify REQUIREMENTS (social, legal, environmental, management policies, etc.) of 4 elements of MMIF:
 - (1) Personnel
 - (2) Plant management
 - (3) Control system instrumentation
 - (4) Process behavior;

- II Allocate FUNCTIONS among MAN (personnel) and MACHINE (control system);
- III Analyze TASKS to perform functions;
- IV Produce FUNCTIONAL design; determine method of IMPLEMENTING it.

7. (1.0) PERSONNEL

PLANT MANAGEMENT objectives increasingly affect CONTROL STRATEGY and the number, type and role of PEOPLE involved.

8. (1.0) UNPREDICTICALITY

UNPREDICTABLE aspects of process behavior are often best handled through man's JUDGEMENTAL and adaptive capabilities.

9. (1.0) PACING

Does man PACE process (and control system), or vice-versa? BOTH can be applicable - MAN PACES during startup; MACHINE PACES during normal running.

Can man ANTICIPATE process behavior or only REACT?

10. (2.2) ENVIRONMENTAL PARADOX

The MMIF is usually physically bounded by the CONTROL ROOM; its ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS are a MAJOR VARIABLE in MMIF performance. PARADOXICALLY, man and control-system both CONTRIBUTE TO (noise, etc.) and must be ACCOMMODATED BY (temperature controls, etc.) this environment. Control room ARCHITECTURE and VISUAL APPEARANCE are extremely important factors; it is NOT SUFFICIENT to place the MMIF in ANY OLD ROOM.

11. (3.0) WEDDINGS

SUCCESSFUL MMIF design are successful WEDDINGS of human factors engineering (HFE) and control system engineering (CSE).

xxvii

HFE WEDS man to machine and vice-versa.

CSE WEDS process to instrumentation and vice-versa.

MMIF functional and physical design expresses TASK ALLOCATION between man and control system.

12. (4.0) TASK/TECHNIQUE/DEVICE

3 STEPS in a METHOD of determining the APPROACH to physically IMPLEMENTING the FUNCTIONAL design for information PRESENTATION and MANIPULATION:

- (1) Specify the TASK (for example display setpoint);
- (2) Determine ALTERNATE TECHNIQUES to accomplish task;
- (3) Identify ALTERNATE DEVICES to implement technique.

* REMEMBER:

- * ALTERNATES are ALWAYS AVAILABLE.
- * there is NEVER only ONE solution.

13. (6.0) FULFILLMENT

This Guideline's TOP DOCUMENT role is FULFILLED after completing Section 4.0:

- (1) All man- and machine-dependent REQUIREMENTS are identified;
- (2) A design CONCEPT is established;
- (3) It is expressed in a FUNCTIONAL design;
- and (4) An IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH is established.

Now refer to SUPPORTIVE sources (see bibliography). DETAIL the implementation to your APPLICATION.

xxix

OUTLINE OVERVIEW

1.0 Overall Operation Requirements

Process and Personnel requirements are reviewed to determine all of the aspects that will specify or restrict the objective to be accomplished by the man/machine interface.

1.1 Process Requirements

1.2 Personnel Requirements

2.0 Control Center Requirements

Management and Environmental requirements that may lead to requirements and restrictions on the Control Center itself are enumerated.

2.1 Management Requirements

2.2 Environmental Factors

3.0 Man/Machine Interface Design Factors

A series of questions and statements are listed, which when answered, provides a restricted set of requirements for the man/machine interface. The questions and statements cover process, management, human factors and functional requirements.

- 3.1 Organization of the Design Approach
- 3.2 Human Factors Engineering
- 3.3 Translator Functional Requirements
- 4.0 Implementation

Various methods of implementing the man/machine interface are discussed.

PRECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED

- 4.1 Scope
- 4.2 Presentation
- 4.3 Manipulation
- 5.0 Glossary
- 6.0 Bibliography

1.0 OVERALL OPERATIONS REQUIREMENTS

Overall system operations are first examined to determine those requirements which will define or restrict the objectives which are to be accomplished by the Man/Machine Interface. This procedure is exemplified by the Guideline Flow chart of Figure 1.0.

1.1 Process Requirements

The first step in the design of an MMIF should be to collect as much pertinent information as possible about the process to be controlled. Considering the items mentioned in this section will be useful in collecting this information.

-1 Process Stability and Predictability

The primary reason for including a human in the system is to handle unpredictable aspects of the process. This is closely related to stability since unstable processes (such as those containing exothemic reactions) will amplify the effects of unpredictable events.

Some typical sources of uncertainty are:

Equipment malfunction Utility failure Variability of raw materials, utilities, weather Process disturbances or upsets Lack of complete process knowledge Sudden poisoning of a catalyst (as opposed to gradual degradation) Accommodation of the process for unusual situations in equipment availability, energy availability, polution control, etc. Sensing of system behavior or characteristics for which no automatic sensors are provided Variables not subject to automatic measurement

"Special" or "unrehearsed" runs On the other hand some sources of variability are readily predictable and may not need human intervention to com-

pensate. Typical of these are gradual fouling of heat exchanges and gradual changes in catalyst activity.

Variables To Be Measured

All variables to be measured should be listed and described in detail. For most variables the description should include:

- Normal Variables

Type of sensor Response time and consistency of response Need for trend and historical data System inertia







-3-



FIGURE 1.0

1.2

S T. A. Sand

Expected noise and/or error Desired engineering units Variables derived by calculation Expected range Alarm settings and required action Range and source of set points Possible overides of constraints

In addition, variables which are difficult to measure often require very special interface considerations. For example, a variable which requires a manual laboratory type analysis needs a defined means of entering data into the system. On some important variables it may be worthwhile to check them by correlating them with other variables.

Mode of Operation

A process may operate continuously or in a batch mode. There is often a choice between the two which is closely related to the control needs and to the MMIF.

Is it a series or a parallel process? Does the process have a number of parallel branches? How many steps are in series and what is available or required to surge between steps?

(examples)

- a. The above questions can have an important bearing on the distribution of multiple control interfaces.
 - Ъ. Required surge may sometimes be reduced by careful consideration of interface requirements.

Outside Constraints and Legal Requirements

The constraints placed on the process or on the interface must be defined. These include policies, regulations, practices, or other restrictions imposed by management, government or unions.

For example, management or sometimes government may require storage of historical data. Union rules may restrict permissible operator duties and working hours. Any of them may impose constraints relating to safety.

Operating Objectives

The overall objective of the process should be carefully defined and related to the operator's duties.

The most common objective is to produce a product at maximum profit. For this purpose the operator's scope of authority must be defined and used in determining what information is to be available and what range of control is permissible. In many situations the operator has a free reign on variables which effect product quality but is constrained at points limited by safety considerations.

A quite different objective is in scientific experimentation. Here providing flexibility is often the most important consideration at the MMIF.

Other possible objectives to be considered are training, safety, and pollution control.

Measures of Performance

What are the measurements of performance of the process, and what information does the operator need from them for optimization?

Consideration should be given to unusual measurements, often relating to product quality and which may require:

-Information from remote lab or locally conducted lab tests. -Human judgement of product taste, smell, or other directly observable characteristics. -Customer or user feedback.

Environmental Effects

What effect does Meteorology have on the process?

(examples) a. Temperature of a cooling-water system may change optimum control strategy.

b. Air humidity is important in a drying application.

- c. A sudden rainstorm can cause severe disturbances in some processes.
- d. A violent storm can cause loss of information remoted via telephone or microwave links.

Physical Size and Layout

The physical size and layout of the process are very important to the MMIF requirements. A process which has everything written the operators need or view will have substantially different communication and interface requirements than one which is spread over a larger or otherwise non-viewable area.

Provisions should also be made for possible future expansion of the plant.

1.1.2 Process Controls

The desired control of a process is directly dependent on the proper operation of the hardware and software used to gather and display the process parameters of interest.

- Process Control

The objective of each control loop should be studied and related to the plant objectives and to the operator's duties.

Where complex control algorithms and strategies are used, thought must be given to the degree of understanding needed by the operator. Is it necessary to understand the process, the strategy, or just the MMIF? In some cases it may be beneficial to display complex control schemes schematically for the operator, the supervisor or the engineer. Complex schemes include such things as adaptive or multivariable control or a change of algorithm depending upon conditions.

With a display it is feasible to spell out emergency recovery procedures. The value of this should be considered.

It is important to consider the consequences of control system failure in terms of important process variables, unit and plant integrity, and personnel safety. Provisions for fail-safe operation, manual or automatic backup, or redundancy must be studied.

Plant startup and shutdown imposes special requirements on the control system. Planned frequency of shutdown influences MMIF design. There may be economic or safety justification for some automatic sequencing of startup and shutdown operations.

Special Functions

Various aspects of system performance pertaining to the control system can typically be tested and monitored on-line. These might include:

Proper operation of analog and/or digital filters.

Inactivating a loop on line in order to calibrate sensors (e.g. gas analyzers, amplifiers in the signal-computer interface, etc.)

Deliberate load or setpoint-pulsing of system, on line, to optimize controller settings, obtain loop frequency responses, etc.

Deliberate changing (or sweeping) of controlled variables to obtain wide-ranging data base needed for model generation or updating.

On line frequency analysis of data for purposes of evolving inputs to control schemes. Post mortem analysis and reporting to and in the analysis of a system failure.

- Variables to be Displayed

The consideration of the above functioning of process controls then logically leads to the variables of the process that should be displayed and manipulated.

All variables to be measured and associated with the operation of controls should be listed and described in detail. These variables might include:

Operator's feedback indications of hardware controller setpoint, gain, reset, and/or rate settings.

Indication of above parameters (and addresses for digital control algorithms.)

Valve position indication (control valves, scanning valves, etc.)

Relay status.

Hardware controller status (Computer-mode, local-mode, bypassed, etc.)

Computer-Process hardware interface status (e.g. is process interface generating pulses, shorted out, etc.)

Hardware-controller utility status (instrument air pressure, power supply voltages, steam pressure and/or temperature).

Electrical continuity of all hardware status alarm lights. (Lamp Test)

Descriptions of the variables should include consideration of response time, type of sensor, expected range, alarm settings and required action, range and source of setpoints, and possible overrides of constraints.

Some control schemes have special legal requirements (e.g. supervisory setpoint-control override during emergencies).

Schematics of the control loops may be desired for display.

Data that is displayed should indicate the validity of the measurement. The display should indicate in some manner if the variable exceeds the sensor limits (a truly bad signal). If the measurement for some reason is not being scanned, the variables should be so indicated. In any event, some indication of the measurement scanning speed (or starting and stopping point) should be available on the display).

1.2 Personnel Requirements

The overall operations review will impose certain "top-down" personnel requirements. The following section will go into detail about their needs.

-1 Who uses the console?

There are many facets to be considered in this section. It is not enough to merely say the operators are going to control the process from this console. (For purposes of discussion in this section, anyone who uses the MMIF is considered to be the "operator", although in reality he could be any of the following types of personnel.)

- Process Operator

The console operator or operators must use this console as their communication with the process. The unit must be designed to comfortably fit the user/or users. Don't skimp - if more than one operator will spend considerable time at the console, dual entry and displays should be considered. The tasks to be performed should be enumerated.

(examples) -changing controller set points -activating control loops -increasing or decreasing plant throughput -putting computer on or off control -updating computer with lab results -changing recipe amounts when permitted -running equipment or process tests or diagnostic routines -changing console operating mode

- Engineer

Is an engineer, or a foreman, or other persons in charge of the operators? Are there operational changes to be entered into the system that are not the responsibility of the operator? Are there restrictions or operational goals imposed on the system? Will the foreman be making these changes?

What percentage of the time will this console be used for work of this type? This will vary from industry to industry. Thought should be given as to where this type of input should be accomplished. Should a particular panel or section be reserved for this use? Should this function be removed to a separate location, or simply locked-out by special keys or command-codes?

- Supervisor

Does the plant supervisor have a need for obtaining special data or data arranged in a particular way that would be used for Management decisions. Where and how often will this function be required? Will a lock-out be required?

- Programmer

After system is installed, where, how, and how much programmer activity is expected? If there is a need that is large, then the problem of how to accomplish this is very important. Should the function be combined with the engineering tasks?

If the need is small, how will it be accomplished? Will the regular console functions handle this load? Will the computer console be used? Is there a computer terminal? Will the computer need to be shut down for changes (foreground only vs. foreground-background)? - Maintenance

Are there provisions in your design to accomplish control system and computer maintenance? What effect does preventative maintenance (PM) have on the system? Can PM be performed on line? Is PM necessary? If not, then when repairs are made, how do the diagnostics get into the system? What about storage media, ease of use, etc.

- Training

What effect will the training of personnel have upon the console design? What provisions for training are to be made? Is the console simplistic enough? Has Human Factors Engineering (HFE) been used properly? Can a regular operator be trained easily? Does the system make the operator feel he has a new tool or an operational aid? Is the communication between operator and the processor adequately described and instructions easily understood? Are the operators old or new to this task? Has the training taken into account that operators generally resist change?

1.2.2 Modes of Operation

What kinds of operational modes are to be performed. This, again, impacts on the console design.

- Normal Operation

Can you define how the system is to run in the normal operating mode? Does this include startup and shutdown?

What does the "normal" type operation mean?

- -Operate in supervisor fashion with setpoint changing (closed loop supervisory).
- -Operate in DDC mode with appropriate backups (closed loop).
- -Operate in monitor-type mode with instructions to operators (open loop control).

If startup is to be performed - how will this be accomplished? Supervisory and/or open loop directed?

Shutdown - is this a normal function or emergency? How will it be accomplished? Supervisory and/or open loop directed? - Background Mode

Is the system, during normal operation, capable of performing tasks other than control?

(examples) -Compiling programs for real time control use.

- -Compiling and executing scientific type programs (Fortran).
- -Performing laboratory analyses or lab calculations.
- -Simulation of the plant in a faster-thanactual-time frame.
- -Analysis and debugging of operating programs and computer operating system during operation.
- Emergency Mode

What is to be performed during emergencies? Tasks should be outlined as well as how they will be accomplished. Make a task list for control actions. Does this include emergency maintenance of system?

- Maintenance

Have provisions been made to accomplish as much maintenance as possible while on-line (effecting production)? See "security and safety" for plant operation while off-line.

- Operational Goals

In any of the above categories does the operator have the requirement to set the operational goals, or is this function restricted? If the operator does set the goals, does he also have the option to commit available resources to accomplish this task (i.e. can he change the plant from one level to another and appropriate the feedstock, utilities, equipment and manpower required)? If the operator is restricted, does he have ready access to the people who can set goals? Especially during emergencies?

- Off-Line Operation

Is there to be a requirement for the computer to perform off-line (while the production unit is down)? If background tasking is not available, then off-line operation could include recompiling or assembling changes to be made in the system. If the process unit operates for short periods of time, with time available between production runs, some sort of EDP functions could be accomplished during these short breaks.
1.2.3 Security and Safety

Is the system protected from casual or accidental-type of button pushing? Does the system have a watchdog timer or similar protection against program-looping or getting lost? Does the watchdog timer protect against automatic restart as in a power failure when you don't want it to restart automatically (maybe because its been down too long)?

Are the system-programs protected (either by software or hardware) while in operation? Is the system protected with backup software which is stored in a safe place? Is the hardware special or can it be replaced easily in case of an accident? Sometimes it's worth going with a standard model to lessen the accidental-loss risk.

Can the necessary safety or recovery actions be performed from the console with the required speed?

Is the control room designed to minimize traffic and let only the authorized personnel access to the computer? Is there a visitor's viewing gallery "requirement"?

Are there to be keylocks on the console or other types of security (such as code names) for separation of duties? How are these "priviledge codes" to be controlled and monitored?

Are there security overides when necessary? An example might be during startup when normal or built-in constraints must be overridden.

1.2.4 Management Objectives and Restrictions

Here the definitions from management must be reviewed and their impact on the console evaluated, not only the number of persons to be involved in the control center operation, but any other requirements by management or the government. There are other restrictions that may be imposed - Is the job to be performed standing-up or sitting-down? Management may decide the console should be a certain length, height, color or configuration. Are there other jobs or tasks to be performed besides the main task performed at the console (in other words, offline duties)?

Here also the definition of how the plant is to be run is determined. It may be general (i.e. certain cases run in production-limited mode, otherwise run in raw-materialefficiency mode) or it may be very specific (i.e. maintain certain conditions regardless of productivity demands or raw materials being used). Other examples might be: If a batch plant operation, the product quality between batches must remain within certain limits. If a continuous plant, the product may vary depending on the demand or customer (i.e. crude-distillation tower operation to give more gasoline or more heating oils). Certain management restrictions also imply a special type of record be kept. This could impact the console requirements, and certainly impacts on operations personnel requirements.

1.2.5 Government

Government also impacts the console objectives. This may be very dependent on the industry. OSHA or EPA may require certain objectives be met and records kept for a number of years. Legal requirements could also be a cause for some console considerations. There are very specific requirements placed upon control rooms for Nuclear Power Plants by the Nuclear Regulatory Agency, for example.

1.2.6 Pacing

Man or machine - which paces the other? Here again, this appears to be an industry dependent variable, but this should not be over-looked. (For more on pacing, see 3.2.9 re "Psycological Fit")

Do not forget that for certain times the nature of pacing may switch. As an example, during startup and shutdown the man may pace the machine, but during normal production the machine may pace the man. The exact reverse situation can also occur! Other examples - during batch operation the machine may pace the man until an unusual occurence - then control will defer to the man. In a continuous-furnace control operation the machine will pace the man until restrictions of some variables make the automatic solution unattainable. Then the alarm alerts for the man to take over, and the man would then be pacing the machine.

2.0 Control Center Requirements

In the previous section we examined how the Man/Machine Interface might be influenced by the higher level requirements of overall process and system objectives. Now we picture the control center itself and identify factors which are relevant to it directly.

-14-

2.1 Management Requirements

This section will enumerate some of the types of company policies, industry standards, licensing regulations, major equipment contractor's requirements, and management goals and decisions that may lead to restrictions and requirements on the MMIF itself. (The guideline user must keep in mind that the following examples were chosen only as a random collection of typical requirements. As these examples jog the user's mind, he should write down his corresponding or related actual requirements.)

-1 MMIF Hardware Restrictions

-Specifications

What are the hardware restrictions that affect the design of the MMIF?

Some examples of such restrictions MIGHT be:

- a) The console will be painted company colors;
- b) The console will consist of equipment made by union companies in the U.S.A.;
- c) The MMIF will withstand the factory environment;
- d) Provide for the following planned future improvements.....;
- e) Provide for the following operational modes on a single console: normal, emergency, shutdown, startup, maintenance;
- f) Provide for in-house maintenance instead of an outside vendor;
- g) Make the MMIF a showplace for public relations and tours;
- h) Provide for computer system backup;
- i) Provide for manual overides;

- j) Make this MMIF hardware and software compatible with our other interfaces;
- k) Use commercially available equipment instead of in-house design and fabrication;
- This equipment must last the life of the project, which is "X" years;
- m) There must be a graphic representation of the process on or near the MMIF;
- n) The MMIF must have less than 0.5% downtime;
- o) Keep the overall cost less than "X" dollars.

- Legal

What are the legal requirements that apply to the MMIF? Some examples MIGHT be:

- a) Safety, such as no sharp edges, and providing hi-voltage or other warning signs where appropriate;
- b) Health, such as no toxic fumes or high noise levels;
- c) May have to provide for on-the-job training;
- d) Licensing or leasing may require nameplates or other items of inventory and packaging control.
- e) Production reports or other logs may be a legal necessity.
- -2 Operator Restrictions

- Selection

What are the operator restrictions as they relate to the type of operator that will use the MMIF? Some examples of operator restrictions <u>MIGHT</u> be:

- a) This operator must be a union employee;
- b) This operator will be a company man;
- c) This operator will be a new hire;
- d) This operator will be an in-house person;
- e) This position will be relatively stable;

- f) This position will be used as a training tool for personnel being promoted from a lower position to a higher position;
- g) This operator must pass certain tests;
- h) This operator must pass a security check.
- i) This operator must posses normal (color vision, hearing, and manual dexterity.

- Responsibility

What are the management restrictions that apply to the Operator's Responsibilities and authority?

Some examples of these restrictions MIGHT be:

- a) The number of operators at the console;
- b) The amount of relief time for the operator;
- c) Secondary duties that are required, such as maintenance or clean-up;
- d) How much authority the operator has, how much of the available resources the operator is permitted to commit, or use;
- e) How much responsibility the operator has;
- f) How the operator's performance is to be measured.
- Legal

What are the legal requirements that apply to the operator? Some examples <u>MIGHT</u> be:

- a) Operator may be young or old;
- b) Operator may be male or female;
- c) Operator may require relief time or scheduled breaks.

- Monitoring and Pacing

Does management require the machine to monitor the operator, or the operator to monitor the machine, or somewhere in between? Is the machine to pace the operator, or is the operator to pace the machine? Some examples of the various modes of operation are as follows:

- a) The machine makes the decision and completes the action, then notifies the operator;
- b) The machine makes the decision, notifies the operator, then completes the action - this allows the operator to manually override the action;
- c) The machine suggests an action, then waits for an operator reply which could be: 1) no reply within a time period means O.K., 2) no reply means not O.K. and machine trys something else, or waits.
- d) The machine alerts the operator to a problem and waits for a decision.
- 2.1.3 Records and Logs

Hisorical records and logs as required by management. Some examples of these are:

- a) Production summaries by shift, day, week, month, etc.;
- b) Shift or crew comparisons;
- c) Equipment downtime and reasons;
- d) Trending Charts;
- e) Set point changes log;
- f) Plotting capabilities;
- g) MMIF downtime and repair log;
- h) Alarm logs;
- i) Records of operational variations, equipment bypassing.
- j) Operator's Communications records (like in-flight recorders for example)
- k) "Instant Playback" capability as used to "trace" sequence of events that caused a failure or accident. (casualty information)

2.2 Environmental Factors

Environmental factors may <u>enhance</u> or <u>degrade</u> the performance of the Man/Machine Interface. Use of environmental factors to enhance performance is part of the designer's objective. This section is divided into three areas of focus: man-centered, machine-centered, and physical layout.

Man-centered environmental factors are those factors which effect the operators themselves as the designer looks at the interface, ie, those environmental factors which effect or restrict the human factors engineering design.

Machine-centered environmental factors are those factors within the immediate area of the interface which affect the hardware design and implementation.

Note: The above two catagories of environmental conditions or factors are not necessarily the same. Each does not include all of the same elements. A good example of this is noise. Noisy environments will often degrade man's performance but will not likely effect the components of the control console in the same way, if at all.

Physical layout requirements form a seperate catagory of environment. It includes both man and machine factors, often simultaneously. Physical layout may often be used to compensate in part for an otherwise poor environment around the MMIF

-1 Man-Centered Environmental Factors

As the designer enumerates and evaluates the environmental factors effecting man he should keep in mind that man perceives his environment entirely through his five senses, but that his reaction to these input signals can be quite complex. Sociological factors, for example, are quite complex reactions to sensory inputs. The man-model referred to later in this outline can be useful in evaluating the importance of the various environmental factors as they effect man's physical ability, endurance, mental ability, fatigue, etc.. The environmental factors listed below have been divided into categories according to their usual effects on man. The categories are somewhat arbitrary and overlaping but serve the purpose of highlighting important effects.

- Effects on Sensory Preceptions.

a. Temperature/humidity/ventilation. The range and variations of these factors effects, among other things, man's comfort and endurance.

- b. Sound. This factor can have both positive and negative effects. Such factors as frequency, intensity, duration, variation, composition, etc. are important.
- vibration. This factor is similar to sound but may have added effects on sense of feeling. Vibration rarely enhances environment for MMIF.
- d. Light. Factors such as color, shade intensity, duration, and variation should be considered. Illumination and glare can effect ability to read for example. Poor choices of color can be emotionally irritating under some conditions. Properly used lighting effects can significantly enhance the MMIF environment.
- e. Texture and geometry. These factors may often be used to enhance environment and the accuracy of man's output. Examples of this factor used to advantage are the use of different sizes and colors of panels for different functional partitions of MMIF.
- f. Dust and other nontoxic contamination. These factors may reduce comfort and endurance.
- Effects on Mental and Psychological Behavior
 - a. Data rate input to man. Man may not be able to use information if he receives too much too rapidly.
 - b. Variety of input form and type. Data of similar type should be presented to man in the same way. Variety of method of presentation may be used to advantage as, for example, critical variables presented continuously on dedicated indicators.
 - c. Consistancy and organization. These are really human factors engineering subjects. However, some inconsistancies and disorganization may be dictated by plant or control room restrictions in which case they become environmental disadvantages.
 - d. Effects on "arousal level". See human factors section and the "man-model". This is an important effect but it must be used carefully. Such things as alarm bells or flashing lights are often used. Man's response often is a shift of "arousal level" and can result in erroneous action. For example, if there are too many alarms, an operator will learn to ignore them and may miss seeing an important one.

- e. Fatigue and stress. Are there factors which generate stress and fatigue, which can degrade man's performance?
- f. Comfort factors. Are there comfort factors or can some be added which may compensate for stress? Can the operator stand up, sit down or move about? Is the physical working space large enough, and is the room environment adequate?

- Factors With Physical Limitations

- a. Amount and rate of output required of man. Can the operator do the assigned job at the rate pre-scribed and yet maintain the necessary reserve energy for possible contingency situations?
- b. Toxicity/health hazards.
- c. Nuclear radiation.

2.2.2 Machine-Centered Environmental Factors

- Temperature and humidity range and level (if the machine's requirements exceed the man's requirements).

- Vibration, seismic requirements

- Electromagnetic radiation. Ultra-violet, X-ray, radiofrequency, etc. (A two-way radio near a computer can disrupt its operation.)

- Electrical noise (Any sporadic electrical load on the same supply circuit as a computer will likely disrupt its operation.)

- Dust and other contamination (in refineries and chemical plants, H₂S usually effects electronics components at levels lower than man's tolerance).

- Nuclear radiation
- Variety of input forms from plant or man.

2.2.3 Physical Layout

- Predetermined factors from overall operation requirements.

- Visual observation of the process. Required or not?
- Explosion proofing.

and the second of the

- Safety

「「「ななた」というなのない

-21-

- Consistency. If there are several operators or operating stations, can similar jobs be done in similar ways with similar equipment?

- Other working conditions. Wiring on floor, obstacles, conveniences, etc.

3.0 Man/Machine Interface Design Factors

In the previous sections of the guidelines, emphasis has been on establishing the performance goals that the Man/Machine Interface should support and under what contraints of policy, manpower, control strategy, and physical environment the Personnel Subsystem of Fig. i.l must exist.

We are now ready to proceed to the next step in interface design. First the restrictions and requirements generated in Guideline Sections 1.0 and 2.0 above should be reviewed and organized. Then with human factors engineering and hardware characteristics considerations, the actual interface can be defined.

3.1 Organization of the Design Approach

A thorough preparation for design requires the organization of a considerable number of factors. Some appreciation of the problem may be grasped by a reference to Figure 1.0, which showed a comprehensive flow chart for the design process.

We are now on the threshold of Human Factors Engineering and Control System Engineering. (Again, refer to Figure 1.0)

- Questions that should have been asked and answered by now[

In order to fully utilize the following information in this section of the Guideline, you must have a welldefined purpose in mind. If you have answered all of the following questions, you will have a restricted set of requirements for the MMIF. If you have not considered the following questions, but wish to continue thru this section, you are assummed to have adopted some <u>preconceived</u> notion about MMIF design, and the Guideline will be of much less use to you.

- 1. Will you utilize existing manpower or select/train according to design requirements?
- 2. What is the prime motivation for involving a manned control console? (Typical sections of HFE needed)
 - Research or pilot plant (all)
 - Unpredictable process (feedback & trending & auto alarming heirarchy)
 - Incomplete automation (feedback)
 - Poor reliability in hardware/software (feedback)
 - Lack of confidence in automation ("consistent MMIF" & feedback)
 - Traditional (stereotyping)
 - Safety requirements (accuracy, error recovery, transparency)
 - Maximize performance of system (all)

- 3. What is the available manpower pool?
 - Open market
 - Regional market
- (selection & training)
- Internal recycling
- Contractual
- 4. What are the physiological restrictions for operators?
 - Need all physical abilities
 - Need only specified abilities

(can accommodate Handicapped)

- 5. What are the psychological restrictions for operators?
 - Personality types
 - aggressive, dynamic, imaginative, non-conformist
 - conservative, obedient, conformist
 - Intellectual types
 - semi-literate
 - decision makers, thinkers, innovators
 - consistent and reliable
 - meticulous and logical
 - Social types (personality)
 - gregarious
 - loners

6. What work patterns will be required?

- Man pace machine or machine pace man
- Standard daytime hours/work schedule
- Shift hours, regular schedule
- Highly intermittent, on demand
- 7. What type of manpower is involved in use of console?
 - Control engineer
 - Programmer
 - Maintenance
 - Shift or routine operators
 - Clerical workers
 - Managers
 - Supervisors
 - Design analysts
 - Casuals (part-time)
- 8. What are the rules/requirements of access to console?
 - Restricted by authority
 - Restricted by schedule
 - Restricted by time-sharing cycling

9. Are back-up personnel needed for any types?

- Emergency or routine occasions
- Redundant/dedicated or temporary stand-in
- 10. What are motivations of operating personnel?
 - Monetary (hourly, salary, or profit sharing)
 - Self-driven curiosity (researcher, designer)
 - To meet minimum specified performance requirements according to some historical precedent (union)
- 11. Are job enrichment/enhancement methods to be utilized?
 - Industrial relations
 - Industrial psychology
- 12. What is the involvement of operating personnel?
 - Involved in operations, as scheduled by others
 - Involved in design implementation
 - Involved in goal-setting
 - Involved in decision making, arbitration
 - Involved in control system upgrading
 - Involved only in event of breakdowns or emergency
- 13. Who will be allowed to recommend/request changes or improvements?

- Operators - maintenance technicians, engineers - supervisor - management

- 14. Are the prime objective/goals defined and documented?
 - Restricted access information
 - Openly published information
 - Abstracted, or detailed information
- 15. Are the acceptable methods of achieving the prime objectives/goals defined and documented?
 - As above plus priorities/preferences of methods
- 16. Are the constraints/restrictions for the achievement of objective/goals:
 - Temporary or permanent?
 - Legal or ethical?
 - Economic or technological?
- 17. What personnel-selection methods will be employed?
 - Internal upgrading/recycling
 - Screening and aptitude/skill tests
 - Competition or senority-rule

18. What personnel-training methods will be used?

- On-the-job training (timeshared or rotation)
- Buddy-system (with supervisor or senior operator)
- Published training manuals/aids/simulators
- On-line or off-line training
- Automatic upgrading by senority or ability
- Training by simulation machines or devices
- 19. Is there a program for turnover replacement?

- Scheduled or unscheduled (by time, by performance, or by potential abilities)

- 20. How is the performance of personnel evaluated?
 - Measurable performance criteria
 - Supervisor rated
 - Continuous or periodic (what period/cycle?)
- 21. What is the organizational structure of the operating personnel?
 - Team or task force (responsible to who?) - Departmental
- 22. What are the operations-personnel reserve resources during crises or emergencies?
 - Back-up force
 - Re-assigned stand-ins
- 23. Will operator's successful operations algorithms be re-invested into automated control?
 - As they occur
 - With periodic re-design evaluations
 - Or used instead to upgrade operator's training and operation requirements, and procedure manuals?
- 24. Is the facility or process a new one or a recycled (updated) one?
 - Do precedents of performance exist? (for machine, for operators)
 - Do stereotypes exist? (for machine, for operators)
- 25. How are conflicts resolved for operational methods?
 - By on-line performance requirements
 - By off-line management decisions (policies or laws)
 - By decision maker(s)

26. Is the mode of operation based on desire to achieve previously unrealizable goal, or to maintain past history of success without failure?

The answers to these questions will establish the character of the personnel requirements which the MMIF design must satisfy!

Next, you should be able to answer:

-26-

for DISPLAYS:

What is being displayed? (Information item, validity) Why is it being displayed? (Usage, causality) How is it being displayed? (Physical form and location) When is it being displayed? (Control of the display device timing) Where does it come from? (From source directly or calculated)

But WHAT are you really telling the Operator?

for CONTROLS:

What is being controlled? (Device directly or calculated parameter) Why is it being controlled? (Usage objective, algorithm) How is it being controlled? (Physical form, strategy) When is it being controlled? (Control of the control device timing) Where does the control signal go? (Destination)

But what are you asking the Operator to ACCOMPLISH?

SUMMARY:

If each of the above checklist items can be confronted and described early in the system's design, we feel that the designer has a good chance to do a top-down design. The results will be early and powerful definition for:

- Data base description
- Signal and activator lists
- Statements of objectives
- Basis for project task breakdowns (allocations of effort)
- Early identification of R & D requirements
- Basis for strategy developments
- Potential problem areas.
- Algorithms of display and control

3.2 Human Factors Engineering

When it comes to the actual design specification, the characteristics of the human operator must be matched to the characteristics of available hardware, to meet system objectives. To achieve this, an understanding of the physical and mental performance limits of the operator should be taken into account.

This involves the relatively young field of scientific study called Human Factors Engineering (HFE). It is the scientific approach to the optimization of human perfor mance for performing physical and mental tasks. It is beyond the scope of these Guidelines to cover the extensive field of information that has accumulated on this subject. A vast literature exists. A very brief bibliography is included in the guideline which should provide the reader a useful introduction to Human Factors Engineering (HFE).

In brief, our interest here is to use HFE to attempt to provide quantitative and qualitative measures of man's sensory responses to stimuli as well as establishing his capacity for mental data-processing tasks. A popular approach to the study of the operator is to develop models. As an example, Fig. (3.2) depicts one such concept. No discussion of this model is attempted here. It is introduced merely to indicate the extent to which HFE attempts to study the behaviour of the human operator. The references must be consulted for a further understanding.

It would appear that the human data processing capability becomes the significant consideration in the design of the MMIF. It is not so much the physical aspects of the hardware that are of prime importance, but rather the encoding, organization and presentation format of data made available for decision-making purposes. The human must be able to absorb them, and make decisions, and take appropriate actions efficiently and accurately.

3.2.1 Decision Making

A checklist of questions that bear on decision making are:

- 1. How is it obvious that a decision must be made? arousal and attention (alarming) -
- 2. What forms of perception are utilized for arousal?
- 3. What forms of action are used for resultant output?



- 4. What are timing requirements on decision-making process?
- 5. What are accuracy requirements?
- 6. What is the information source? external process, actual data, real-time process model, simulated data, speeded-up model, predictive data, mental model
- 7. Are all relevant goals and objectives definable?
- Are all allowable methods of arbitration/compromising outlined? speed vs. accuracy safety vs. economy efficiency vs. personal comfort
- 9. What are forms of input data? hierarchical, structured, filtered by demand, raw, noisy historical records/trending sampled data (time base) hysteresis, dead band limiting, and "wraparound" effects
- 10. Are the real-time probabilities of values and excursions for input variables understood?
- 11. Are all probable errors accounted for? - substitution, reversal, ommission....
- 12. Does nature of decision involve qualitative or quantitative measures or data? differential (with or without ready reference?) absolute (on what scale?)
- 13. Are records available of previous/similar decisions and consequences? expectations (consistent or inconsistent process behavior)
- 14. Is feedback provided for consequences of present decision/action?
 performance monitor (real-time, delayed, simulated)
- 15. Are operator conversions required between types of data as provided, and resultant control output required?
- 16. When is it obvious that a higher level of decision maker is needed?

- 3.2.2
- 17. Is the reliability or validity of the data (measurement devices) known or can it be checked? self-diagnostic instruments calibrated checks status or validation flags
- 18. Is it obvious when input information or output controls are faulty? behavior of status or validation flags
- 19. Are operator's display/controls compatible with the accuracy, speed, economy, and flexibility desired? economy: slow, serial, multipurpose devices accuracy: dedicated devices speed: paralleled-access devices flexibility: multi-assignment devices
- 20. Is quantitative information available in qualitative form when higher speed decisions are required?
- 21. Is the operational status of all data acquisition and control devices known? If not, can they be interrogated? verification of status or validation flags

3.2.2 Motivation

Motivation is a part of man's personality, but we are considering it seperately because of its importance in relation to his behavior as an operator.

Motivation can be considered to be made up of the following traits:

Volition, curiosity, interest, initiative, imagination, knowledge, commitment, perseverance, drive, enthusiasm.

(Note: Human volition is what makes people create goals for themselves, and is the primary difference between biological systems and mechanical systems. Duty and obligation are forms of commitments. Curiosity and knowledge are prerequisite to the traits that follow in the list.)

3.2.3 Arousal

Arousal is the awakening or promting concept which attracts a man's attention so that he may begin processing information. In the case of perception, 王王の御史のと

each of the various senses has their own arousal threshold. In the case of man's internal information-processing, arousal provides cures which prompt further actions. The time between the first signal and the arousal is the arousal-lag-time.

We are concerned here with arousal as related to the external signals or cues which prompt an operator. These cues are called alarms if they are used for purposes of <u>re-directing</u> the operator's attention. In that event, they are really priority indications.

COMMENTS

It will be useful to rank the level of arousals desired into some operational-related format as follows:

CONDITION

lst	CRITICAL	REPRESENTS A THREAT TO HUMAN SAFETY, AND NEEDS IMMEDIATE ATTENTION FOR CORRECTION
2nd	IMPORTANT	REPRESENTS A THREAT TO PHYSICAL PLANT INTEGRITY, AND NEEDS IMMEDIATE ATTENTION FOR CORRECTION
3rd	AUXILLIARY	REPRESENTS A THREAT TO THE EFFICIENCY OR OPTI- MIZATION OF THE PROCESS, AND NEEDS ATTENTION
4th	AIDING	REPRESENTS HELPFUL OR SUPPLEMENTARY INFO., WHICH DOES NOT NEED TO BE ACKNOWLEDGED

Arousal Checklist Questions

PRIORITY

- 1. Is alarm based on absolute, differential, or rate-of-change?
- 2. Are threshold detection limits fixed, variable, suppressable?
- 3. Are alarms structured for hierarchical consideration?

A BARANCE I

- 4. Are start-up and shut-down false alarming suppressed?
- 5. Is operator-prompting a part of the alarm system? (expectations)

- 6. Are alarm outputs on multipurpose devices or on dedicated displays and devices?
- 7. Is noise-filtering or statistical support provided? (validation)
- Is pre-alarm recording available? (for DECISION-MAKING).
- 9. Is alarm system hardwired or automated? (computer)
- Is there a back-up system? (for what other human senses?)
- 11. What is the average and instantaneous perception loading? (noise, glare, S/N ratio, environment....)

3.2.4 Response Time

Once the arousal threshold has been reached, and the operator is aware of a new input, information processing can proceed. The delay between the input condition sufficient for perception and a measurable output is defined as the operator's response time.

The actual value of response time is extremely dependent upon the type of encoding and accuracy required in any resultant, measurable output. The response-time flow is as shown:

SIGNAL PERCEPTION AROUSAL C	OGNITION> PROCESSING> OUTPUT ->
-----------------------------	---------------------------------

			~
ARDUSAL LAG	COGNITION LAG	PROCESSING	OUTPUT

Some of the recognizable cognition affectors are:

-Amount of extraneous information (noise) -Strength, quality, uniqueess of information (errors)

-Motivation (commitment, duty, interest, payoff)

-Physical and mental condition of man

-Type of perception involved

-Type of encoding (sequence, time, space)

-Previewed information (trending, modeling)

and that have a

-Qualilative vs. quantitative input

-Skill, training, experience

-References and aids

Some of the recognigable processing-time affectors are:

-priority-weighting and decision making, prioritity of task as related to priority of goals -experience and accuracy of memory models and algorithms -whether generalized algorithm, infrequently used; or specialized algorithm, frequency used -workload and stress -anticipation of event (look ahead technique) -accuracy of desired output (re-iteration and checking may be required) -consequences of errors (pay-off motivation?) -decision aids and back up information availability (for decoding-enhancement and redundancy) -type of processing (addition, multiplication are faster than subtraction, division; missing element detection, or exceptional-element detection, etc.) -validity of information or data items, or deduced probabilities of events Some of the recognizable accuracy-affectors are:

3.2.5 Workloading

A man's workload can be defined as the measureable (real work) output plus his internal or mental workload. We are mainly concerned with his mental workload since his physical work output requirement is usually negligible.

Mental workload consists of all mental processing, whether it ever results in an output or not, and whether or not is was stimulated by a real or imaginary input or stressor. Workloading can only be measured indirectly as related to a loss of thru-put, processing speed, and accuracy. Thru-put in turn can be defined as the relative measure of useful informationoutput of an operator, as related to the informationinput required to produce it.

The most obvious and severe workloads on an operator are:

- unnecessary decoding and encoding (trivia)
- unnecessary perception-filtering due to excessive noise on inputs
- unnecessary output requirements (when machine-aiding is available)
- stress during upsets due to anticipated work and consequences of errors
- decision-making due to imperfect data (unknown validity)

By "unburdening" the operator, you can selectively:

- 1. reduce training time
- 2. reduce required skill or capacity level
- 3. reduce errors
- 4. increase safety
- 5. increase operator's reserve resources
- 6. increase consistency of behavior and operation

You can do this by:

- making displays and controls compatible (transparency)
- 2. augmenting operator's less efficient talents
- 3. reducing trivia
- 4. data buffering, queueing, filtering
- 5. hierarchical alarming
- 6. aided statistical summaries/analysis/modeling
- 7. enhanced decision-making using informationvalidity flags

Or an operator will do it automatically by:

- 1. omission of his less critical tasks
- 2. allow errors to increase
- 3. allow efficiency to drop back
- 4. reduce resolution and discrimination
- 5. reduce responsiveness by increasing his control-lag and dead-band
- 6. changing mode of operation to releive his pressure
- 7. assumming validity states which favor easy decisions

Work-Loading Checklist Questions

- I. What is the type of workload on the operator?
 -anticipatory (threat of crisis)
 -actual (physical, mental)
 -stress (threat to personal life style)
 - 2. Is operator's job designed around maximizing thru-put or maximizing reserve capacity for emergency?
- 3. Is operator's task to involve maintenance? Exercises and drills? Data Logging?
- 4. Are the social-interaction pressures identifiable?
- 5. What type of memory loading is involved? -short term -long term
- 6. What type of decision making is involved?
 -amount of mental stress
 -validity of information
- 7. What type of operation is involved: -open loop, predictive, adaptive control, (pursuit) -closed loop, (compensatory) -operation by exception (monitoring)
- 8. What is the quality and quantity of data display? of control? of feedback?
- 9. What are the learning requirements on operator?
- 10. What are requirements on operator to furnish data inputs?

-amount, quality, type, method, timing -consequences of default, error

- 11. Are consequences of work-load reduction most important because of man's comfort, performance requirements, or safety requirements?
- 12. What type of timing is involved? Man-pace-machine, or machine-pace-man?

3.2.6 Encoding/Decoding

All information presented to an operator is encoded in some form of spatial, temporal, sequential, or operational relationship. Likewise, all of the operator's output is encoded. It is of utmost importance to keep this encoding to a minimum, and

to have that minimum closely matched to the operational requirements of workload, accuracy, and response time.

The most straightforward encoding techniques are said to be "transparent", while more highly encoded information is said to be "noisy" and contain "trivia".

A "sterotype" is merely a realization of a specific encoding set of conventious and models of the real world environment as relating to objects, ideas, processes and so on. It is dependent upon regional populations, language, vocabulary, social status, education, etc.

It should be noted however, that a certain minimum amount of encoding and trivia is necessary to maintain some degree of realism and operator interest, and also to provide a certain uniqueness, or personality or "character", for seperate entities of the MMIF.

As an example of the use of encoding, consider alarming. In a parrallel-board array where all alarm indicators and interaction switches are present at all times, the operator has little need of a mental model, since he can relate the necessary response-algorithms directly to the spacial location of an alarm. He <u>mentally</u> stores his algorithm in the appropriate spatial-location of the alarm panel. If, however, the panel is large or only occassionally used, it will be helpful to provide secondary or "prompting" information.

Now consider when this alarm panel is automated and put on a CRT display, with computer-aided hierarchy. Now an alarm appears on a CRT, and the operator must <u>read it</u>, decode the language, and mentally match the message with the appropriate response. Response time is slower, and the workload is higher. If it were a "critical" level alarm, this would be a poor design. If it were a "helpful" level of message, no harm is done.

As another example for a CRT display or diagram, consider a valve-symbol or callout. The encoding of the symbol by shape, orintation, size, intensity, or color could indicate:

- is the valve open or closed?
- is it in manual, or local, or computer mode?
- is it in a faulty mode?
- is it in a state-of-maintenance?
- is it being by-passed for some reason?
- is it in standby?
- is the data or indication valid (confirmation required).

3.2.7

Where would further details be available if the valve symbol itself did not give its entire status?

- in a general purpose data base called by a general purpose program, keyed entry?
- by certain action on the valve symbol itself?
- on a bulletin board?

-37--

- on a supervisor's clip board?
- on a shift logbook?
- verbally from another operations person?
- by off-line communications to other personnel, must then visually inspect the valve for you?

Also consider for a CRT

- what happens when an operator enters an error?
- when he repeats an entry?
- when he omits an entry?

3.2.7 Job Aids

Job aids are of value not only to relieve the operator of heavy workloads, but also to improve his accuracy and response time. Aids can be provided to assist him with:

- time references (provide event indicators, trend charts)
- spatial references (provide models, graphic panels)
- operational sequence references (provide graphic panels, encoded prompting information.)
- short-term memory references (provide strong feedback and status information updated rapidly)
- long-term memory (provide bulletin boards, notes, indexes, drawings, pictures, reference manuals)
- decision making (provide historical and trending data, precendents, model situations, predictive or fast-modeling information.)
- information processing (provide scaling or calculating or normalizing information so that it is qualitative rather than quanitative)
- quantitative evaluations (provide time compression or expansion, differentiation, integration, spatial-compression or expansion, or useful rearrangement by intentional distortion, so that the operator can use comparison for evaluation).

Contra Lador B.

In addition, the job aids could be manuals, procedures guidelines, policies, optimization data for the process as well as for operational modes, optimization goals, etc. -38-

3.2.8 Training

Training is simply a collection of methods or procedures used to selectively increase specialized skills of a person. This is usually specified for a specific job requirement, and it is expected to be an efficient process. (Education, on the other hand, is defined as a more generalized program to increase reasoning, analysis and decision-making skills in a broader fashion; and is not expected to be an efficient or goal-directed process.)

The broad objectives of Training are to: - increase skills (physical and mental)

- decrease errors (increase reliability)
- increase thruput (decrease response lag)
- enhance accuracy (resolution)
- increase motivation (self-confidence, duty)
- increase capacity (reserve)

The two obvious modes of training are:

1. ON-LINE

On-line training is possible only when man is pacing or scheduling the machine, and errors are reversible and non-critical.

The training-aids or job-aids could be:

- Documents, manuals, charts,
- Procedures, nomographs
- Background-mode computer simulation

The training-aids design will require:

- Definitions
- Requirements of system & performance criteria
- Orientation infomation (models, diagrams, theory)
- Procedures (operations-sequence, policy)
- References and listings
- 2. OFF-LINE

Off-line training is required when the machine paces the man, errors are irreversible and critical, and high resolution or accuracy is required.

The training aids are likely to be: - Films, simulators, recordings,

- Closed circuit TV, teaching machines

The training aids design will require:

- Process simulation or realism, including projected consequences of error, response time, accuracy, feedback information.

3.2.9 Psychological "Fit"

Here we are concerned with the psychological "fit" of the MMIF to the operator. All of the previously mentioned factors and categories come to bear in one final and composite "feeling" that the operator will have towards the machine.

Regardless of the success of the individual aspects of the MMIF, if this overall and <u>subjective</u> "feeling" of the operator toward the achine is negative, the project is doomed to failure -- or at the <u>least</u> doomed to the searching-out of an operator who will "fit"!

The purpose of the Guideline in this area is to make you aware of the aspects of this problem, the implications it can have on your project, and possible sources of further information on the subject (like the Bibliography).

An example will be given regarding the concept of "pacing" to illustrate the subtle effects of the psychological "fit" of the machine to the operator.

A man is said to be "paced" by the machine if he has <u>little choice</u> of what to do, and how to do it, and when to do it. He in effect is acting as a captive closedloop-controller. On the other hand, man is said to be "pacing" the machine, if <u>he decides</u> on his own what to do, how to do it, and when to do it.

Man rarely if ever likes to be paced by a machine (the only obvious exceptions are competitive "games"). When he is, he can feel "threatened" or "crowded" by the machine, and this would be a bad psychological "fit". On the other hand, if the man felt he was pacing the machine, always understood it, and felt he was always in command, this would be a good psychological "fit".

Let's examine some aspects of the MMIF which affect pacing.

- During smooth operation of a plant running under management-by-exception, man is "pacing", generally.
- During emergency upsets, the machine could easily pace the man, unless the computer is used to support him by hierarchical alarming algorithms, automated recovery routines, operational guideline information, and so forth.

- During routine operations, if the machine is automated to the extent that a display tells the operator what to do, how to do it, and when to do it (like with a "programmed-text-book" approach and variably-assigned displays and controls, so that he is only given a selected, pre-defined set of data and controls) he could feel "paced". This could be avoided by "opening-up" the automated scheduler, so that the man could maintain freedom of the overall direction of the program, and escape or maneuver within it freely by his own choice.

- When entering a command to display or control a particular variable, the man could feel paced or "crowded" if he had to serially type-in a rather lengthy or complex string of characters in a rigid format, especially if the machine stops him instantly upon making a small error such as a software detect able syntax error, for example.

In summary then, the computer should augment the MMIF to such an extent that the operator is effectively releived of busywork or pacing activities, and is given the impression that he is in command of the machine at all times. He must never be "trapped" or "paced" by the machine; operators who are will tend to revert to their preferences of "traditional" wallborads of control; operators who have favorable experience under computer automation will actively participate in further automation activities.

3.3 Translator Functional Requirements

In these guidelines, the term "Translator" is used to represent the totality of hardware and software in the MMIF through which operators and process communicate with each other. Information and/or action flows through the MMIF from: -translator to man

-man to translator

-1 Translator-to-Man Requirements

This subsection examines the functional requirements imposed on the translator by the operator's need for data presentation.

- Degree of Serialization of Data Presentation

In the past, process control interfaces have characteristically provided the operator with all the information into and out of the system in a simul-

taneous, parallel, data presentation. As systems grew in complexity, it became obvious that the human mind had a finite data processing rate along with the realization that the operator may well be overlooking key inputs due to the overwhelming amount of data presented. Modern interfaces tend to reduce this mass of data into a more manageable form, by presenting the operator with only the data he requires soon for carrying out the specific task confronting him. This is termed a "serial operator interface", and the mode of selectively outputting preprocessed information is known as "management by exception". Management by exception implies that only off-normal data will be presented to the operator, thereby allowing him to concentrate his attention on current critical requirements of the system.

In designing such a system it is necessary to establish a hierarchy of data presentation to allow the operator to quickly access the actual loop or point to which he wishes to direct his attention. This may be accomplished by having the operator normally monitor a very macroscopic view of the process and then quickly and conveniently focus or "zoom-in" on the trouble spot. This technique efficiently overcomes the lack of simultaneous data display.

Such interfaces may still retain elements of parallel data display. For example, several CRT displays may be located on a console to allow the operator to keep a running summary of alarms always in view on one CRT, with a second CRT showing the trend of some group of troublesome points, and a third CRT used as a "utility" screen to call up those additional displays he needs for the ongoing monitoring and control of the process.

- Information Availability

Depending on the needs of the operator, the information may be made available by the translator in any of four modes:

- Continuous
- Periodic
- On-demand
- Automatic

The most critical functions may be required by the operator on a continuous basis and this implies dedicated presentation hardware. Examples of periodic data requirements are found in hourly logs of all or groups of system parameters. This may well require a hard copy display for records of system performance.

On-demand presentation would form the basis for selective call-up of variables that are normally of low importance, and this method requires the minimum investment in display hardware due to the timesharing possibilities.

Automatic presentation of data is one of the most important techniques, as it is implicitly required by the management-by-exception technique. In this mode the event is called up by the abnormality of the event itself. An example is a data-scanning system which outputs messages automatically when a point goes into alarm. As the quantity of data is not totally predictable as in the other modes, methods such as providing multiple CRT pages or hierarchical buffering must be used to handle a situation where many alarms can occur before the operator can process them.

- Flexibility

Flexibility refers to the capability of the translator to grow with the system and to provide a means by which the system attributes may be reconfigured. An example is found in systems permitting on-line modification of graphic CRT diagrams such as process schematics and pictorials. In these systems the operator or programmer calls up the format to be modified and types in the changes from his keyboard. When all modifications have been entered the operator pushes a button calling up a special program that stores his new diagram for future use. By these means the operator can rapidly alter his data presentation to keep it current with the state-ofthe-process, and is an advantage unique to the CRTbased operation interfaces.

Another example of flexibility is found in translator designs that permit the data to be reconfigured into different combinations that are meaningful for the specific task at hand. For example, various process variables could be assigned to a CRT bar chart representing their current value or their setpoint deviation. The more flexiblity built into the translator the greater will be its ability to adapt to future system needs. This must be balanced against increased translator design complexity, processing power, and programming requirements.

- Operator Aiding

The most generalized requirement for a convenient interface design is to bring the data to the operator, not the operator to the data. The data should be arranged to minimize or eliminate the need to refer to look-up tables for interpretation of scaling, linerization, operating procedures, start up or shut down, etc. The alarm messages may present not only the time, date, point number, and nature of the alarm, but may also give the operator action-oriented instructions to guide him through the necessary corrective measures. Also, alarms may be classified as to degree of importance to help the operator quickly decide what action is most critical.

- Readability

Operator acceptance of the control room equipment is tied strongly to the readability and display clarity of the display system. Included here we have considerations involving readability at normal viewing distances, absence of flicker, and proper control room ambient lighting.

Display readability also involves proper differentiation of data classes through the use of color, character size and shape, and well organized groupings of data.

- Comprehension

Operator comprehension of data benefits greatly from the management-by-exception principal, in which the only data presented is that needed by the operator at that moment. This technique effectively minimizes "sensory overload", which can occur in translator designs that output excessive amounts of data simultaneously. Another key attribute for furthering comprehension is to arrange the presentation of information to be as intuitive as possible. Examples are in the use of trend recorders to graphically show process variations over a period of time rather than periodically printing out digital values of the variable. Also, CRT graphic diagrams can be configured to indicate a pictorial diagram of the plant or a section of the process, and show key real-time data for variables adjacent to the appropriate symbols of the variable. Thus the intuitive grasp of the system is increased by showing such variables as tank levels pictorically as well as digitally. (i.e. qualitatively as well as quantitatively.)

- Reliability

Translator reliability may be greatly improved by providing redundant information display capability at every operator location. For example, an operator may have two CRT displays at a console, and would normally use both. In the event of a failure of one, the other would furnish the most critically needed displays. In any event, no single failure should totally take down the MMIF station.

- Throughput

The throughput requirements of the translator are a function of:

- The amount of presentation hardware
- The frequency of presentation
- The presentation processing requirements
- The control room layout

For example, as the number of displays and displayupdate rates increase, the burden on the translator likewise increases. The type of displays used also impacts the translator processing requirement with, for example, CRT displays imposing a greater burden than in-line digital indicators. Also, various classes of CRT displays impose different throughput requirements on the translator, with random-scan displays normally needing more processing power than raster-scanning displays. The control room layout will also influence translator throughput if some of the work stations are so far removed from the translator processing equipment that relatively slow data transmission techniques must be employed to transfer the data. The throughput at these "remote" locations will be more difficlut to handle in that case.

3.3.2 Man-To-Translator Requirements

This subsection examines the functional requirements imposed on the translator by the need for operator interaction with the process through the translator.

- Degree of Interaction Required

The sophistication of the system hardware and software required to provide operator interaction depends primarily on how often the operator must interact with the process through the MMIF. Sophistication is also highly dependent upon the criticality of that interaction and upon what stresses are imposed on the operator. Obviously the more often, the more critical, and the more stressful the situation, the greater will be the need for a translator design which permits rapid, accurate, and convenient control over the process.

- Classes of Interactive Hardware

Interactive hardware may be either dedicated to a particular point or shared among many points. This ties in closely with the degree of serialization of translator hardware as covered in the preceeding subsection on translator-to-man requirements. Modern translator implementations tend toward more shared hardware with the exception of critical safety systems, which may be dedicated to a particular purpose.

- Degree of Serialization of Translator

As mentioned under the translator-to-man subsection, modern operator interfaces tend toward a much greater degree of serialization of data display than in the past. This impacts on operator interaction because frequently the interaction will be accomplished via the same serialized data-presentation hardware. An example would be calling up graphical "pages" of displays on the CRT one at a time, to operate valves and breakers by direct interaction with symbols within each display.

- Requirements Imposed by Interactive Devices

Speed - There is a wide range of speed at which available interactive devices operate. An example would be positioning the cursor on a CRT display via a keyboard equipped with keys that can move the cursor up, down, right, or left one step at a time (slow); a trackball or joystick control which can move the cursor at variable rates along any vector (intermediate); and light pen control which can position the cursor randomly to any point on the screen (fast). The relative speeds of the devices mentioned have not considered the time it takes the operator to move his hand to that device, and that too must be considered!

Accuracy - Obviously the benefits of fast operation of an interactive device will be lost if the device does not operate accurately or consistently. This will be especially important during times of stress when such deficiencies are magnified. An example would be using a light pen that will not position the cursor accurately to the target area. To a certain extent the implementation of system design should compensate for the inherent limitations of interactive devices. (For example, providing the operator with a larger light pen target for important interactions).

Convenience - The same concepts of operator convenience as described under "readibility" must again be considered when designing MMIF interaction methods. This point is especially important with regard to operator acceptance of the system. The designer must take into account the requirements of accuracy and speed mentioned above, as well as good human engineering of the interactive hardware, by accounting for proper physical location of the devices as well as designing a high measure of "intuitive" operation into the required interactions.

Effects on display hardware - The requirement for interactive use will impose a higher level of sophistication on the display hardware by the required two-way flow of information. For example, CRT displays may require that the contents of the screen memory be capable of being read by the computer following for operator-initiated data and control inputs.

- Feedback

Every important interactive event the operator enters into should be confirmed with some form of feedback to signify that his action has been acknowledged. This can take the form of a color change on the CRT, a button lighting to say the computer is processing his entry, or simply an audible or tactile feedback signal indicating acknowledgement that he has pushed the button. Indeed, it is usually important for the operator to be given feedback for <u>each level</u> of operation resulting from his input. For example, acknowledgement of:

- the proper functioning of the key (by a clicking sound)
- the computer acceptance of the request (by a character "typed" on the CRT)
- the program's acceptance of the "new datum" (by a color change or blink of the same character)
- the proper continuing operation of a program (by some form of "system heartbeat" display--for example, displaying digital clock time updated every second)
4.0 Implementation

This section discusses the means by which operators exchange information with the process through the MMIF by consideration of the methods of MMIF implementation. There are two functions evolved:

- a) <u>Presentation</u> to the operator of information about the process and control system (alarms, measurement values, control mode, etc.);
- b) <u>Manipulation</u> by the operator of information to convey his messages to the process (change a set point value, etc.).

4.1 Methodology

This section emphasizes a <u>method</u> of determining how to implement the functions of presentation and manipulation. It does not attempt to be a catalog of available devices, or a primer on their operation, or make specific recommendations for particular control schemes (set-point control, digital control), or of particular industry applications (petrochemical, power, etc.). The intent is to provide the designer of the MMIF with a methodology to enable him to select or specify devices to implement a functional solution, versus selecting a device first and then determining what can be done with it.

This method has three basic steps:

- a) <u>Task</u> identify the presentation or manipulation task (display a set point, change it);
- b) <u>Technique</u> determine alternate functional techniques which will accomplish the task;
- c) <u>Device</u> identify alternate physical devices which can implement the technique. Functional and physical capabilities of the devices must be considered to determine overall usability for particular applications.

- Personnel Requirements

For purposes of discussion in this section, anyone who uses the MMIF is considered to be the "operator", although in reality he could be some other type of personnel.

- Information Exchange Media

The media through which information is exchanged in conventional analog control systems are single-purpose instruments (controller, recorder, etc.) which are <u>dedicated</u> to particular loops by hard-wired connections. -49-

In contrast to these conventional systems this section assumes that the primary information exchange medium is a computer-control system with a computer-driven interactive console which is <u>shared</u> among all loops. It is electronically formatted, under program control, to perform a variety of functions.

- Emphasis

Hence this section emphasizes the usability of "nontraditional" computer-driven devices, (such as CRT's, keyboards, etc.,) for "traditional" on-line interactive process control activities (like "change a set point", etc.). It should be recognized that the major advantage of these computer-driven devices, namely their ability to perform nearly any presentation or manipulation function through program design, is also the greatest pitfall to their usability. This is because <u>programming</u> must be viewed as the prominent tool to make the device reflect how "real" process-operators work, and <u>not</u> to reflect how programmers prefer to create interactive displays.

4.2 Presentation

In present day technology, visual and audible presentationmethods are the only techniques widely used. It is recognized that the other senses (touch, smell, taste, etc.) are employed, however, their application is very specialized and not a topic in this section.

- Visual

The presentation of visual data to the operator can be broken down as follows:

- Variables (i.e. setpoint, process)
- Scales (alarms, auto/manual)
- Tests (operator instructions, loop identification)
- Diagrams (flow, schematic, abstract models)
- Algorithms (formatting for displays, behavior for controls, configuration for control systems)

The following table lists the various presentation tasks, applicable techniques, applicable devices and comments.

TABLE 4.2

 urrent absolute value Fa variable or its ever seale ever second in the second of ever the matter of variable's - fate of change is somewhat - fate of change is difficult to - fate of change is difficult. - fate of change is difficult. - fate of change is difficult. - fate of ch	resentation Task	Techni que	Device(a)	Comments
wardy to raining a bar, or similar under of variables when scaled in on a Cff multi-one function of variable's when scaled in a maker of variable's the of change is somethat and only y. Aution of the original of variable's the of change is somethat the multiple's station of variable's the of change is somethat the original of variable's the of the	urrent absolute value f a variable or its eviation from a taret	Pointer or Bar superimposed	Analog Meter, plasma or LED	-Limited resolution even if the display is expanded or normalized.
-Good presentation of variable's relation to span (even when noisy). -Rate of change is somewhat discernible. -Rate of change is somewhat discernible. -Rasolution is limited only by the plasma pasenet. -Resolution is limited only by the plasma pasenet. -Resolution of singles. -Resolution of variable's -Resolution of variable's -Poor presentation of variable's -		21010	array iorming a bar, or similar display mimicked on a CRT	-Difficult to share display for a number of variables when scaled in engineering units unless CRT is used.
Malti Digit Dot matrix, discernible. Multi Digit Dot matrix, serven segment, plasma panel, cff electro- mechanical, etc. -Resolution is limited only by the serven segment, plasma panel, cff electro- mechanical, etc. Resolution of variable's readouts. -Poor presentation of variable's readouts. -Toor presentation of variable's readouts. -Poor presentation of variable's readouts.				-Good presentation of variable's relation to span (even when noisy).
Multi Digit Dot matrix, seven segment, muber of digits employed. Diama panel, GRT electro- mechanical, etc. -Resolution is limited only by the muber of digits employed. Diama panel, GRT electro- mechanical, etc. -Basy to share for a number of variables. Poor presentation of variable's readouts. -Poor presentation of variable's relation to span (especially when noisy). end or history of Graphical Recorder or -"Tate-of-change id ifficult to discern. end or history of Graphical Recorder or -"Tate-of-change" display is inherent variable. Poor presentation and bandvidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Inherent hard copy. -Inherent hard copy. -Inherent hard copy. -Batrepolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behave				-Rate of change is somewhat discernible.
GRT electro- -Easy to share for a number of readouts. mechanical, etc. -Easy to share for a number of readouts. -Poor presentation of variable's relation to span (especially when noisy). -Poor history of Graphical and or history of Graphical Recorder or "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -Difficult to share for a number of variables. "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -There of change is difficult. "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -Difficult to share for a number of variables. "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -Difficult to share for a number of variables. "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -Difficult to share for a number of variables. Bifficult to share for a number of variables. -Diotter "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter -Difficult to share for a number of variables. Good resolution and bandvidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Inherent hard copy. -Strapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behavel		Multi Digit	Dot matrix, seven segment, plasma panel,	-Resolution is limited only by the number of digits employed.
-Poor presentation of variable's relation to span (especially when noisy). -Rate of change is difficult to discern. -Rate of change is difficult to discern. -Inherent to share for a number of variable -Good resolution and bandvidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Extrapolation judgements may be made alloving for "anticipation" of behav			CRT electro- mechanical, etc. readouts.	-Easy to share for a number of variables.
end or history of Graphical Graphical Recorder or"Rate-of-change is difficult to a number of variable "Rate-of-change" display is inherent plotter "Rate-of-change" display is inherent "Difficult to share for a number of variables "Good resolution and bandwidth Inherent hard copy Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav				-Poor presentation of variable's relation to span (especially when noisy).
 end or history of Graphical Graphical Recorder or"Rate-of-change" display is inherent variable blifficult to share for a number of variables. -Difficult to share for a number of variables. -Good resolution and bandwidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav 				-Rate of change is difficult to discern.
-Difficult to share for a number of variables. -Good resolution and bandwidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav	end or history of variable	Graphical	Recorder or	"Rate-of-change" display is inherent
-Good resolution and bandwidth. -Inherent hard copy. -Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav			Tanoora	-Difficult to share for a number of variables.
-Inherent hard copy. -Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav				-Good resolution and bandwidth.
-Extrapolation Judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav				-Inherent hard copy.
				-Extrapolation judgements may be made allowing for "anticipation" of behav

-51-

Presentation Task	Technique	<u>Device(s)</u>	Comments
Trend or history of a variable (cont'd)	Line/graph	Recorder or plotter	-Troublesome paper handling and writing mechanism. -Record identification often has
			to be såded.
		CRT	-"Rate-of-change" display is inherent
			-Easy to share for a number of variables.
			-Limited resolution with raster types
			-High resolution with random-vector types
			-No hard copy unless provided with additional hardware, i.e. video hard-copier, or camera, or auxilliary plotter
			-Records can be retained on computer memory devices, i.e. magnetic tape
			-Record identification can be provided easily
Relationship of the	Line graph or	CRT or plasma	-Resolution dependent upon display type
current value of a variable to a variables variables	uer grapu	Tauad	-Very flexible in format
		Multi pen recorder	-Good resolution
		or plotter	-Limited format

-52-

Presentation Task	Techn1 que	<u>Device(s)</u>	Comments
'Mode of a loop	Illuminated Indicator or displayed mnemonic	Rear lighted push button, LED(s) rear projection displays, etc.	-Inconvenient if a large number of simultaneous states have to be displayed -Good interactive system if used with push-button
		CRT	-Can be tabulated for a large number of loops -Some potential for interactive system, i.e. cursor, light pen, etc.
		Page printer	-Can be tabulated for a large number of loops -Slow
			-Little potential for an interactive system -Often a complex mechanical device is furnived
Alarus	Matrix dieplay	Amuncistors	-Hard to update for system changes
			-Poor potential for interactive system unless a matrix of illumi- nated push-buttons are used Potential pattern-recognition
			-Space consuming -Lack of recording or "logging" abilities -Allow immediate, parallel access

-53-

Presentation Task	Technique	Device(s)	Comments
Alarms (cont'd)	Matrix display	Dedicated CRT	-Software updatable
			-Potential for interactive system, i.e. light pen, etc.
			-Compact
			-Potential pattern-recognition capabilities
			-Lacks recording or "logging" abilities unless auxilliary equipment provided.
	Tabular display	Assignable CRT	-Software updateable
	in chronological, hierarchical, or arbi order	trary	-Potential for interactive system, i.e. light pen -Lacks recording or "logging" abilities unless auxilliary equipment provided
			-Compact when serialized, but then requies serial-accessing techniques (hierarchy)
			-Ability to arrange in order of importance
			-Little potential for pattern recognition
			-Ability to add operational guidelines or notes
		Page Printer	-Software updateable
			-Little potential for pattern recognition
			-Noisy
			-Inherent recording or "logging"

-54-

-
-
÷
C
-
0
53
-
\sim
\sim
1
-
(1) (a)
[1]
-
-
3
-
<
-

Contraction of the local distribution of the

and the second

Presentation Task	Technique	<u>Device(s)</u>	Comments
Text	Illuminated dot(s) in an array	Plasma array (usually a 5 x	~Flat faced
		7 dot array per avmbol)	-Requires little depth
			-Requires no refresh memory in computer
			-Flicker free
			-High-contrast, bright
			-Only one color (orange or green)
			-Inflexible format

-55-

-Relatively high cost-per-character

-Easy software interface

(a)	Illuminated dot(s) in an array	Device(s) CRT employing raster scan, 30Hz, interlaced fields	Comments -Horizontal single element lines may flicker -30K picture "elements" possible -Easily remotable
			-Many colors possible -Relatively inflexible format -Relatively inexpensive -Easy software interface -Intermediate brightness, contrast -Low maintenance
		CRT employing reater scan, 60Hz, non-interlaced fields	-Flicker free -Relatively flexible format -156K picture "elements" possible -Requires "specialized" TV raster for -Many colors possible -Many colors possible -Relatively easy software interface -Relatively inexpensive -Renotable -Remotable -Intermediate brightness, contrast -Low maintenance
	Illuminated line segments	CRT using D.C. beam positioning	-Characters are "stroked" for potential improvements in readibility and resolution
			-High brightness, contrast, resoluti -Unlimited and flexible format -Relatively expensive -Bifficult software interface unless auxilliary controllers provided -Limited colors possible (red, orang green) -Intermediate maintenance -Non-remotable -Difficult to provide hard copy

-56-

4.2

and and

1.	-
1	
	•
-	μ
1	C
	2
-	ç
C)
1	-
c	1
-	1
٢.	1
-	
-	-
n	0
-	
<	С
-	
-	-

Presentation Task	Technique	Device(s)	Comments
Diagrams	Illuminated dot(s) in an array	Plasma array	-Flat faced, allows rear-screen projection -Inflexible Format -One color (orange or green) -Easy Software interface -Requires little depth -Requires specialized hardcopiers -Requires no refresh memory -Not directly remotable -Flicker free -Flicker free -Low maintenance
		CRT employing raster scan, 30 Hz, interlaced-fields	-Horizontal single element lines may flicker -Easily remotable -Easily remotable -Easibility of multiple colors -Hardcopiers readily washable (without color) -Hardcopiers readily when the display is made up of an array of individual symbols -Intermediate display monitors -Intermediate graphic capability when the display is made up of addressable dots (65k dots at 30Hz or 262k dots at 60Hz, usually)
	Illuminated line segments	CRT employing D.C. beam positioning	-Ideal for graphics -Unlimited formats -Unlimited formats -Expensive -High resolution (1M dots) -Limited colors possible (red,orange,yellov, green) -High brightness, contrast green) -High brightness, contrast -Difficult Software interface unless -Non-remotable -Non-remotable -Difficult interface required for hard copy

-57-

4.2

- Audible

The use of audibles in conventional systems is usually designed to interrupt the operator's activity and either envoke pre-determined action, e.g. shutdown, clear area, etc. or direct him to another source of information, e.g. look at annunciator, read teletypewriter, etc.

Through the use of audibles having different characteristics, different message can be conveyed. The basic drawback, however, is the psychological limitation in the amount of information conveyable. The advantage in the use of audibles is that the operator's hearing function is usually unencumbered and a significant sound will interrupt him regardless of his activity.

Conventional audibles are in the form of:

Harris Horns Bells Klaxons Sirens Whistles Solid state such as piezo electric devices

- Voice Response

Emerging in present technology are devices which will generate human speech. Such a device obviously opens up a whole new communication channel to the operators without the limitations of the previously described devices. One such device converts the output of a computer into simulated human speech. This conversion from digital information to simulated speech is accomplished thru design which divides each human word into phonemes, such as vowels or consonants. For example, the word "hello" consists of the phonemes "H", "EH", "L", "UH" and "O". Each phoneme is represented by a digital word. These phonetic command words are converted into the corresponding phonetic sounds and define the inflection level or loudness of the phoneme.

4.3 Manipulation

Manipulative devices are the physical means by which the process operator transmits his commands to the control system and process. Hence they are the first stage of translation from "man language" to "machine language." The goal in designing the manipulative section of the MMIF should be to avoid imposing unnatural machine-language constraints on this initial stage. Manipulative actions should reflect "plain English" and traditional (stereotyped) process-dependent terminology. This section discusses program-controlled manipulative devices which interact with electronically-

1....or whatever is the native language being used!

4.3

These devices are:

- -Fixed-function keyboards
- -Variable-function keyboards
- -Light pens
- -Touch screens
- -Speech recognition

(note: the terms "keys" and "buttons" are used interchangeably)

This section does not cover <u>hard-wired</u> devices dedicated to particular functions (motor-starter pushbuttons, etc.), or directly associated with ancillary MMIF equipment (recorder patch panels), or captive controls (recorder chart drive selector switch, hand copier on/off switch etc.).

- Human Manipulative Senses

The human motor-response (hand-controls) and vocal output response are highly developed for directly interactive control tasks (changing controller mode, value, etc.) but are commonly overloaded.

Human vocal output has been used mostly to supplement hand controls for indirect tasks (relaying information via radio-telephone). Recent advances in computerized speech technology are promising, but their application to directly interactive control-tasks is unclear. Handoperated tactile devices are dominant. Those suitable for interaction with computer-driven displays are light pens, touch screens, and various types of keyboards. Foot-operated tactile controls are common in aerospace, machine-tool and vehicular applications, but are not as frequently or as effectively used in the primary process industries as they perhaps could be. - Devices Descriptions

Manipulative devices are classified as variable-function or fixed-function, as follows:

Figure 4.3 Manipulative Device Classification

Device	Human Output Category	Functional Category
Fixed function key		Fixed
Variable function key Light pen Touch screen	Motor response (Hand- operated)	Variable
Speech recognition	Voice	

- Fixed-Function Key

A key which has a single dedicated function, identified by a label affixed on or adjacent to the key top. There are two general types of fixed-function keyboards:

- 1. Universal format (USASCII, etc.)
- 2. Custom format

- Variable-Function Key

A key whose function is not fixed, but varies according to display conditions, previous action of another key, etc.

Variable-function key boards utilize a common arrangement of blank (unlabelled) keys which are labelled in several ways:

- -CRT keys are aligned with locations on CRT (usually under or alongside screen) and CRT labels are displayed under program control
- -Overlays sheets on which labels are printed or handwritten, and positioned by hand to be adjacent to or over keys (with or without cutouts for keys)

-Shifting - shift or "mode" keys are used to change among a fixed set of alternate functions, labeled on or adjacent to keys (examples: Teletype, keypunch, numerous hand-calculators)

-CRT labelling - the most flexible and powerful. The number of labels is unlimited. Operating procedures can be completely self-explanatory (akin to programmed textbooks) wherein current labels follow from previous actions. "Illegal actions" can be eliminated by displaying only labels pertinent to current display conditions (type of loop addressed, its set point status, etc.).

Similar techniques can be used with light pens and touch screens, and are equally flexible and powerful.

- Light Pen

A light pen is a hand-held "active stylus" which addresses a position in a CRT display by pointing at it. This identifies the corresponding CRT beam x-y coordinates in the matrix of possible CRT beam positions, which is then decoded to determine the addressed function.

The light pen is an "active" device since it contains an electro-optical switch which responds to the display's phosphor luminescence. A wire carries the signal from light pen to decoding circuitry. The CRT beam position matrix is "passive" since it exists only as a list of addresses in computer memory. Appropriate software must be provided to allow "activation" linkages corresponding to screen coordinates being pointed at by light pen.

- Touch Screen

A touch screen is essentially the inverse of a light pen. It uses a "passive stylus" (finger, pencil, etc.) for pointing at the desired display position. The pointing actuates one electronically sensitive area in an "active matrix" which is deployed over the display. This is decoded to determine the addressed function in a manner similar to the use of the light pen.

The switch matrix can be created in several ways:

-Mechanically - crossed (x-y) wires between transparent plastic sheets, laid directly over the display surface; actuated by pushing wires +ogether

- -Optically visible or infrared light transmitters/ receivers are located around the display surface in a "picture frame"; actuated by interrupting the light beam
- -Acoustically similar to optical but uses sound transmitters/receivers; actuated by an acoustically-active pen.
- -Electronically distributed electrical properties of screen are precisely balanced by electronic sensing circuitry; activated by touching screen, upsetting balance.

In any event, it should be noted that touch screens can be used with any display medium; they are not a CRTdependent device. Common resolution capabilities are to the inch or CM, but resolutions to a few thousandths of an inch are available.

- Voice Recognition

Computerized techniques are becoming available which can recognize spoken multisyllabic words and phrases with good accuracy. However, numerous restrictions exist on vocabulary, training of machine and man, etc. This technique has been used mostly in nonprocess control environments where the motor response outputs are overloaded (both hands full loading packages, with requirement to describe package to a central data processing system), or not available (control inputs being made over a voice-communications channel).

Voice recognition could be useful in process control situations to supplement traditional techniques, and would constitute an improvement in tasks such as loop addressing (it should be easier to say "display FRC100" than to type in at least six alphanumeric characters or find the fixed-function key dedicated to that loop). Its usefulness as a general purpose or primary manipulative technique for all actions is unclear (it is more compact to manipulate a "ramp" button to adjust a value than to say "ramp the set point value to XXX.X at a rate of Y", and then interrupt the ramp if needed). Also, verification of voice command interpretation would be needed prior to exectuion of the command, and editing and cancellation methods would have to be developed.

- Evaluation Factors

Devices must be evaluated as a <u>medium</u> for implementing a <u>technique</u> for accomplishing a manipulative <u>task</u>. Hardware design should follow naturally from functional design.

4.3

A good example is the question of whether to choose an optimum device for each task, or to use the same device for all tasks?

On the objective/quantitative side, human factors testing can demonstrate that human performance is clearly superior for a certain task with a certain device (in terms of accuracy, speed, repeatability, fatigue, natural hand/eye coordination, etc.).

On the subjective/qualitative side, however, there are strong arguments for the consistency of operation (hence safety, ease of training, etc.) obtained by using the same device for all tasks. It is also important to consider how the device affects (or is affected by) overall work station characteristics (size, shape, standup/ sitdown, etc.).

Thus the most important attribute to a useful overall solution is that it be logical (sensible) and natural (easily learned and retained) for the operator. This is usually a better solution than a collection of individually optimum solutions.

The most obvious compromises in performance between choosing a fixed or dedicated-function device and a variably-assigned-function device are as follows:

-Dedicated function -- Once the operator is trained, he can exhibit a very short reaction time in the use of the device, and the error rates are generally very low. The operator's short term memory is very lightly loaded because the devices are self-identified according to their function, and thus very little or no encoding is required. The disadvantage lies in the inflexibility to change, and the tendency of dedicated devices to proliferate and require extensive layout space. A certain point can be reached where they cover such a large space that the operator's reaction time is degraded because of search time and long-term memory load! Errors would then also increase. However, this method is recommended for "critical controls" because of the likelyhood of short-term memory overload during emergencies, but especially because of the need for quick response. -Variably assigned - Once the operator is trained, and after the automated assignment algorithms are optimized, the reaction time and error rates can be better than with dedicated devices. In this case, the operator's short-term memory is required to process the sequential meanings of the assignments, but his long term memory is effectively releived by the automated assignment routines. Therein lies the difficulty, however, in the critical need for thorough software design and evaluation. Once that is handled properly however, this method exhibits superior flexibility, and compactness. One must be careful to allow appropriate sequential controls or escape-mechanisms into the algorithms, so that the operator doesn't get "trapped". Also, this method might not be appropriate for "critical" controls.

4.4 Task/Technique Characterization

The first two steps toward realizing these attributes are:

- 1. Thorough understanding of the operator's manipulative tasks in terms of the type of manipulative action involved and its human performance characteristics;
- 2. Recognition that alternate techniques usually exist for accomplishing each task, and alternate device for implementing each technique.

This will go a long way toward assuring that a single technique/device solution is not "unnaturally" or "illogically" imposed upon all task problems. Figure 4.4.1 illustrates these two points for the example information organization of Figure 4.4.2.

Task	Techrifque	<u>Characteristics</u>	Alternate Techniques
Display	Address	General: non-critical (does	Identify position in display
UOISETINGTURE	-Area/Group/Loop	not allect process conditions/	Control buytus, row-cotumn)
	-Loop variables	-Selection from fixed alternates in	-Explicitly identify name (com-
	Control (Set, Out, Ratio, Bias)	rixed position in display	pose by typing; voice)
	Alarm (Hi, Lo, Dev, Deadband)	-Visual search to locate on display	-Single named key
	Tune (Prop, Reset, Deriv)	-Visual verification	
	-Call supplementary displays for	-Selection from fixed alternates	-Explicitly identified display
	Selected Area/Group/Loop	-Visual verification	-Name (as above)
Process/	Change loop status:	-General: critical (affects process	-Explicitly identified status name
control anipulation	-Service (in/out of service)	conditions/	(BS BDOAC)
	-Control variable (Set - L/R, Out-A/(M)	-Selection among 2 or 3 fixed alter- nates	-Single named key -Named positions on selector
	-Alarm (enable/disable)	-Visual verification	switch
	Change value:	-Gross or vernier changes within fixed ranges	-Complete new value (numeric data entry: ramp)
	-Control variable (Set, Out, Ratio, Bias)	-Visual feedback (analog pointer	-Increment of change (numeric
	-Alarm (Hi, Lo, Dev, Deadband)	against scale; digital readout)	data entry; ramp)
	-Tune (Prop, Reset, Deriv)		
	Acknowledge alarm;	-One step change from current conditions	-Single named key
	H	10110E / / J	

and the second se

「ない」のないないとないの

-65-

TASK/TECHNIQUE CHARACTERISTICS



Example Information Organization (for Task/Technique Characterization)

4.4

Process/Control Manipulation

Other Displays

FIGURE 4.4.2

EXAMPLE INFORMATION ORGANIZATION (for Task/Technique Characteristics)

-66-

4.5 Device Usage Characteristics

The next step after identifying task/technique characteristics is to identify alternate devices which can functionally implement the desired technique.

All the devices covered by this section can be functionally interchangeable. But each has distinguishing characteristics which cover the gamut of human factors, physical, programming support, cost, etc. These are summarized in Figures 4.5.1 through 4.5.

The evaluation factors above can now be applied toward final device selections.

Device		Use		Operating Principles		Usage Characteristics
FIXED	Fusi	h any key	÷	Each key dedicated to single,	н. Б	eneral
KEYBOARD	-	Move arm/hand to keyboard from rest position	Ň	Operator selects according to memorized operating procedure	ŗ	Large number of keys - can approach one per function; usually requires grouping - hard to group efficiently for all opera- ting procedures
	2 A .	Position finger to key(s)			¢.	Require frequent gross arm/hand movements for searching
	28.	Push/release key(s)	_		ë.	Action area typically 15" x 5" minimum
	ů.	Return arm/hand to rest position			4.	Same function always performed on same key
					·.	Changes difficult since involve hardware
					9.	Least programming required
					2. U	niversal format (USASCII)
					ŗ	. "Incremental-function" keys (single alpha- numeric character)
					ġ	Operating procedure by sequential text-entry (type-in multi-character function names). Touch-typing possible.
					ů.	Difficult to make keys a single-complete- function without awkward coding
					3. 0	Mstom format
					4	Keys can be "single-complete-function" or "incremental"; tradeoff among number of keys, complexity of decoding logic, etc.
				FIGURE 4.5.1		
		FIXED	-FUI	NCTION KEYBOARD CHARACTE	RIST	ICS

-68-

4.5

at the second second

 RIABLE Push labelled keys RIABLE Push labelled keys I. More arm/hand trangement I. General I. Fever keys than fixed-fu of blank (physically trom rest position finger I. Standard arrangement I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. Standard arrangement I. General I. General I. General I. General I. General I. Grain finger I. Grain area I. Grain area I. Grain finger I. Grain finger I. Grain finger I. Grain finger I. Grain area I. Grain finger I. Grain finger<	 Wah labelied keys Wer weybeard, arrangement Kevner weys than fixed-function-keyboard, from rest position Standard arrangement Standard arrandard arrangement Standard arrandard arrandard arrangement Standard arrandard arrangement Standard arrandard arrangement Standard arrandard arrandarrandard arrandard arrandard arrandard arrandard arrandard ar	 Wash labelled keys Kore sam/hand Kore sam/hand Kore sam/hand Kore sam/hand Standard arrangement Rever keys than fixed-function-keyboard Rever keys than fixed-function-keyboard Rever keys than fixed-function-keyboard Rever keys than fixed-function-keyboard Rever keys than fixed-signament, less tam/hand Rever keys than fixed-signament, less tam/hand Rever keys than fixed-signament, less tam/hand Rever keys tam fixed signament, less tam/hand Rever arguired, strate saminamer for all strings Return arm/hand Return arm/hand Return arm/hand Return arm/hand Rever arguired, strate and scion positions Rever arguired, strate argrand arguired, strate arguired, strate arguired, strate argrat	evice	Use		Uperating Principles		Usage Characteristics
 Move arm/hand I. Kove arm/hand I. Kove arm/hand I. Kove arm/hand I. Keyboard I. Keyboard	 Nove arm/hand free-function-keyboard up to 1:1000 for GFT labeling were the service and free-function-keyboard up to 1:1000 for GFT labeling were the service and undebled) keys Position finger Beturn arw/hand Position finger I GHT - by program for algoing fet. Position finger I GHT - by program for algoing fet. Position finger Posit	 Nove earw/hand for strangement if privated sets for the function-keyboard to keyboard to	RIABLE	Push labelled keys	-	General	1. Ge	meral
 From rest position From rest position<td> Trout rest position 24. Fosition finger 24. Fosition finger 25. Furth-functions 29. Purht-functions 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant - by program 22. Purht-functions 23. Functions 24. For intervent, searching, etc. 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant - by program 22. Purht-functions 23. Purht-functions 24. For intervent dis- 25. Purht-functions 26. Purht-functions 27. Confortable rest and action positions 28. Functions 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant Jabells, primary display info 21. Functions 22. Grant Jabells, primary display info 23. Purht-functions 24. The light phytochast rest and action positions 24. Purht-functions 25. Grant Jabells, primary display info 26. Purht-functions 27. The search of display 28. Grant Jabells, primary display info 29. Purht-functions 20. Print Rest of the concentrated in on earents 20. Print Rest of Rest of Search of</td><td> Towns from the set of th</td><td>NULTON</td><td>1 Move arm/hand</td><td>i</td><td>1 Standard arrangement</td><td>-</td><td>Rever keve than fired-function-keyhoard</td>	 Trout rest position 24. Fosition finger 24. Fosition finger 25. Furth-functions 29. Purht-functions 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant - by program 22. Purht-functions 23. Functions 24. For intervent, searching, etc. 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant - by program 22. Purht-functions 23. Purht-functions 24. For intervent dis- 25. Purht-functions 26. Purht-functions 27. Confortable rest and action positions 28. Functions 29. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 20. Purht-functions 21. Grant Jabells, primary display info 21. Functions 22. Grant Jabells, primary display info 23. Purht-functions 24. The light phytochast rest and action positions 24. Purht-functions 25. Grant Jabells, primary display info 26. Purht-functions 27. The search of display 28. Grant Jabells, primary display info 29. Purht-functions 20. Print Rest of the concentrated in on earents 20. Print Rest of Rest of Search of	 Towns from the set of th	NULTON	1 Move arm/hand	i	1 Standard arrangement	-	Rever keve than fired-function-keyhoard
 24. Fosition finger distribution from the production of the designment; le movement, searching, etc. 25. Push/release key program distribution for light pen/rouch screptions is problogy required, for prevent distrum arm/hand fingers for artion, etc. 29. Push/release key program distribution for the program distribution is a symbology required, for prevent and and previous key active a structure to the program distribution is an active a structure to the structure of the program distribution is an active a structure to the structure of the program active at any time (set and additions). 29. Push/release key primar active at any time (set and additions) active at any time (set and additions). 20. GRT 1300, 11, 12, 12, 13, 13, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14, 14	 24. Fosition finger 25. Position finger 27. Fosition finger 28. Publiclease key 29. Publiclease key 29. Publiclease key 29. Publiclease key 20. For light pen/touch screen 20. For light pen/touch screen 21. Fosition finger 22. Publiclease key 23. Preturn arwhmad 24. Fosition finger 25. Position finger 26. For light pen/touch screen 27. For light pen/touch screen 28. Publiclease key 29. Publiclease key 20. Prestons<td> 24. Position finger 25. Position finger 29. Position finger 29. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 21. Position finger 22. Publichese key 23. Publichese key 24. Position finger 25. Publichese key 26. Proving key 27. Publichese key 28. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 21. Prostand 22. Carl Jabils 23. Publichese key 24. Positions 25. Carl Jabils 26. Publichese key 27. Publichese 28. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 20. Publiche</td><td>TRAARD</td><td>from rest nocition</td><td></td><td>of blank (nhusioally</td><td>!</td><td>(1.5 minimi for CRT lahalling us 124807</td>	 24. Position finger 25. Position finger 29. Position finger 29. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 21. Position finger 22. Publichese key 23. Publichese key 24. Position finger 25. Publichese key 26. Proving key 27. Publichese key 28. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 20. Publichese key 21. Prostand 22. Carl Jabils 23. Publichese key 24. Positions 25. Carl Jabils 26. Publichese key 27. Publichese 28. Publichese key 29. Publichese key 20. Publiche	TRAARD	from rest nocition		of blank (nhusioally	!	(1.5 minimi for CRT lahalling us 124807
 24. Position finger 25. Position finger 26. Push/release key 27. Push/release key 28. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 20. Return arm/hand 20. Return arm/hand 20. Fush/release key 21. GRT - by program 22. Push/release key 23. Push/release key 24. For light pen/touch screptiones, partions, etc. 24. Position fites 25. Push/release key 26. Return arm/hand/fites 27. Carl labelling 28. Carl labelling 29. Carl labelling 20. Carl labelling 20. Carl labelling 21. Keys, key labels, primar, positionel, scrite 23. Shift keys - shift 24. Carl labelling 25. Carl labelling 26. Carl labelling 27. Carl labelling 28. Carl labelling 29. Carl labelling 20. Carl labelling 20. Carl labelling 20. Carl labelling 21. Keys, key labels, primar, positionel, scrite 25. Carl labelling 26. Carl labelling 27. Carl labelling 28. Carl labelling 29. Carl labelling 20. Car	24. Fosition finger 2. Tabels varied by: to key 2. Tabels varied by: to rest positions 2. Tabels varied by: the free on display designations 2. Push/release key 1. GRT - by program provinces key 2. Tabels varied by: provinces key 2. Tabels varied by: the free on display designations 2. Push/release key 1. GRT - by program provinces key 2. Tabels varied by: prover to key 2. Tabels varied by: prover to key 2. Tabels varied by: to rest positions 3. Return arm/hand to rest positions 2. Over to key 3. Confortable rest and action positions 3. Return arm/hand to rest positions 2. Over to key 3. Confortable rest and action positions 4. Display display into positions 2. Over to key 3. Confortable rest and action positions 3. Shift keys - shift and the rest and action in same visual field, efficient inter set wey 3. Action in same visual field, efficient inter set wey 3. Sitt keys = shift and the rest and action in same visual field in one are not the rest set wey 3. Action boordines 3. Sitt keys = shift and to how provedures 3. Action boordines 3. Action boordines 3. Sitt keys = shift and to how provedures 3. Action boordines 3. Action boordines 3. Sitt keys = shi	 24. Fosition finger underland, revealing, etc. 25. Fosition finger i of key to be key to		TOTATE CONTRACTOR		ATTRATE INT INTER TO		TANKA OF SHITTEAST TWO TOT IMMITTINE (IT)
 24. Position finger 28. Position finger 29. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 20. Previous key 20. rest positions, etc. 20. verlay - manually 20. verlay sheet 21. Keys, key labels, primar positioned, scrive 22. Verlay sheet 23. Shift keys - shift 24. Some for and scrive at any time (as f anony table a prima ing, immediately adjacen overlay sheet 24. Shift keys - shift 25. Shift keys - shift 26. (usually 2 to 4) 27. Shells arther 28. Shift keys - shift 29. Shift keys - shift 20. Shift keys - shift 21. Repokend 22. Shift keys - shift 23. Shift keys - shift 24. Shift keys - shift 25. Shift keys - shift 26. Mill chalces by programming the different keys at d	 24. Position finger 25. Pabhrelesse key to key	 24. Position finger to key account searching, etc. to key account to key to key the program per current dia fraction positions to rest position to the rest positis for		to keyboard		untapetted Keys		Keypoard, up to I:LUUU IOF CKT Labelling
 24. Position finger 25. Publ/release key to key 28. Publ/release key program to key conditions, to key to reat position 3. Return arm/hand play conditions, to reat position to active a mully to reat position to tec. 3. Return arm/hand play conditions, to reat position to tec. 3. Return arm/hand play conditions, to reat position to tec. 3. Return arm/hand play conditions, to reat position to tec. 4. Our of the protect on the standard fingers for action, tec. 5. Return arm/hand previous key to reat position to the same visual fingers for active at any time (as fact and the art of the standard fingers for the same visual finder (as fact and the same vi	 24. Position finger icon finger version finger version finger of key to key to key to key to key to key the free on display design since no synchology required, for "active areas" in the rear and action position for the rest position strong action, service strong strong, to rest position strong, to rest position strong, and the service strong action, service strong action, service strong strong, to rest position strong, the rest and action position strong, the rest and action position strong, service strong, action, service strong, service str	 24. Position finger is constrained by the service areas to be a current display for ingrit service areas to be a current display conditions is a current display conditions is a current display condition streem is a condition streem is a current display condition and one area of a current display condition and display display information and display condition and display information and						VS. IIXED BESIGUMENCI, LESS
 24. Fostion finger 24. Fostion finger 25. Push/release key 28. Push/release key 3. Return arm/hand 4 or rest positions, per current dis- 3. Return arm/hand 4 or rest positions, sector, etc. 2. Overlay - manually 3. Return arm/hand/fingers for 3. Return arm/hand/fingers for 3. Return arm/hand 4 or rest positioned; action, etc. 2. Overlay - manually 3. Confortable rest and action etc. 3. Overlay - manually 4 or light pen/voub server 4 or rest positioned; action etc. 2. Overlay - manually 3. Shift keys - shift 4 and/eye coordination; in sum ovement 3. Shift keys - shift 4 and/eye coordination; in sum ovement 4 sum jabels can be concented 4 sum jabels can be concented 4 sum labels resting 4 sum labels active; no 4 and labels active; no 4 sum labels active;	 24. Position finger vorted by: to key to disper active acted to the set of the	 24. Position finger 25. Push/release key 27. Lokes 28. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 20. Return arm/hand 21. Return arm/hand 22. Return arm/hand 23. Cantrohalbe rest and action positions 24. Return arm/hand 24. Return arm/hand 27. Return arm/hand/fingers for all actions 28. Return arm/hand 29. Shift keys active 20. Retion 20. Retion 21. Return arm/hand 22. Return arm/hand 23. Retion area 24. Return arm/hand 25. Return area 26. All charges by programming 27. Return area 28. Return area 29. Shift keys active 20. Retion area 20. Return area 20. Return area 20. Return area 21. Return area 22. Cart albella 23. Shift keys active 24. Same label (and function) may appear 29. Gran albella 20. Return area 20. Return attaction 21. Cart albella 22. Gran albella 23. Shift space active 24. Same label (and function) may appear 24. Return area 25. Gran albella 26. All charges by programming 27. Return area 28. Statement attactions 29. Statement attactions 20. Return attactions 20. Return attactions 21. Return attactions 22. Return attactions 23. Statement attactions 24. Statement attactions 25. Return attactions 26. All charges by programming 27. Return attaction 28. Return attacti						movement, searching, etc.
 28. Push/release key 29. Push/release key 3. Returns arm/handi 3. Returns arm/handi 3. Returns arm/handi 3. Confortable rest and act for arm/hand/fingers for action, etc. 2. Overlay - manually 3. Confortable rest and act for arm/hand/fingers for action, etc. 2. Confortable rest and act for arm/hand/fingers for action, in same visual fi keys can be lighted; 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in fixed labels per overlay and eye coordination; in fixed labels per overlay and/eye coordination; in fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in an even and/eye coordination; in an even and/eye coordination; in fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in an even and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift and/eye coordination; in a same visual fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift an extite and an over and a same same satis and an extite an extite and an extite an ext	 28. to key 29. bush/release key 29. bush/relase key 3. Return arm/hand 3. Return arm/hand 3. Return arm/hand 4. to rest position 4. to rest position 4. the same of the same of the set and action positions 5. Owerlay sheet 5. Setting active 6. All charges by programmed textion 7. Only labeling 7. Setting active 8. Setting active 9. Setting a same visual field; efficient intraces same intraces as a setting active a	 28. to key to key to key to key the sector and series and the set of the sector and sector are and the set of the sector and sector are and the set of the sector area and sector area area area area area area area ar		2A. Position finger		.2 Labels varied by:	e.	No effect on display design since no
 2B. Push/release key 3. Return arm/hand 5. Return arm/hand 5. Return arm/hand 6. All changes or the set and act for arm/hand/fingers for action, etc. 7. Overlay - manually 8. Overlay - manually 9. Solif keys - shift 9. Shift keys - shift 9. Overlay shift 9. Shift keys - sh	 2B. Push/release key productions, 2B. Push/release key privations 3. Return arm/hand b. rest position to rest po	 28. Push/release key 3. Return araw/hand 5. Return araw/hand 5. Return araw/hand 5. Return araw/hand 6. Overlay - manually 7. Overlay - manually 8. Corr araw/hand/fingers for all actions action scrime scriton, etc. 2. Overlay - manually 3. Sirit keys - shift 5. Sirit keys - shift 6. Single 7. Sirit keys - shift 8. Sirit keys - shift 8. Sirit keys - shift 9. Sirit shift 9. Sirit keys - shift 9. Sirit sh		to key		.1 CRT - by program		symbology required, for "active areas"
 Return arm/hand to rest position Return arm/hand to rest position Return arm/hand/fingers for action, etc. Overlay - manually positioned; active action, etc. Overlay - manually positioned; active positioned; active; po positioned; active; po positione; positione; programed textbook Returnally grouped programmed textbook All changes by programmid (leads you through) 	 Return arm/hand to rest positions to rest positions action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stey action, stew action, stew action, stew action, stew action, stew action, stew action, stew action, stew action stand/figgers for all action action stand/figgers for all one action stand/figgers for all opera action stand action action active station action active station active st	 Return arm/hand to the set of a set of the arm/hand to the set of the set o		2B. Push/release key		per current dis-		for light pen/touch screen
 to rest position to rest position to rest position to rest position to rest positioned; active ac	 to rest position to rest position to rest position to rest positione action, etc. 2. Car labeling 3. Shift keys shet 4. Usually 2 to 4) 3. Keys can be "single 3. Keys can be "single 3. Keys can be "single 4. Outy labeling 3. Car labeling 4. Car labeling 3. Shift keys state 4. Shift keys state 4. Shift keys state 5. Shift keys state 6. All charges by programming 6. All charges by programming 9. Charting procedures 1. Only labeling 3. Car labeling 4. Charges by programming 	 to rest position to rest p		3. Return arm/hand		play conditions.	۴.	Comfortable rest and action positions
 action, etc. 2. CMT labeling 2. CMT labeling 2. CMT labeling 3. Subtration in same visual fination in the visual fination in the	 action, etc. action, etc. action, etc. action, etc. action, etc. action, etc. bositioned; active positioned; active active at any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- active at any time (as few as 10); active at any time (as few at 10); active at any time (as few as 10); active at any time (as few at 10); active at any time (as few at 10); active at any time (as few at 10); active at at at 10; active at at 10; ac	 action, etc. Cerrlay - manually positioned; active at anually best coordination; minimizes search fixed labels per very sys can be lighted; frieint keys can be different to display overlay sheet overlay time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); and tixe a labels can be corrent steps at any time (as few as 10); anong at a labels (an at a label		to rest position		previous kev		for arm/hand/fingers for all actions
 2 Overlay - manually positioned; active positioned; active positioned; active mation in same visual fi keys can be lighted; fixed labels per prime, ing; immediately adjacen overlay sheet 3 Shift keys = shift and/eye ecortination; mation in same visual fi the standard active at any time (as f among fixed alternating trong fixed alternating procedures or different keys at different keys active; no adifferent keys active; no adifferen	 2 Overlay - manually positioned; active mation in same visual field; efficient keys can be lighted; fired labels per negative ing; immediately adjacent to display overlay sheet overlay sheet provement since fev key active at any time (as fev as 10); and other and atternance overlay sheet provided atter	 2 Overlay - manually positioned; active keys can be lighted; fixed labels per keys overlay sheet ind; immediately adjacent to display information in same visual field; efficient to display information in same visual in one area overlay sheet and alternated alternation in the same visual field; efficient times in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient in the same visual in one area overlay the efficient visual in the efficient visual i				action. etc.	S. CR	The label line
 covertay manuatry positioned; active mation in same visual fi keys can be lighted; fixed labels per per vey cordination; mation in same visual fi keys can be lighted ing; immediately adjacen overlay sheet .3 Shift keys - shift and for arm y time (as f among fixed alternates per key (as tar), and see concentration at the second and set of the second and set of the second at the second alternates per key (as tar), and set of the second at the s	 Postray matuaty postray under an entropy of the arminon is an evisual field; effetent hand/eye coordination; minimizes search fixed labels per any time (as fev as 10); among fixed alternates per key among fixed alternates and fixed alternates per key among fixed alternates and fixed alternates per key among fixed alternates and fixed alternates and	 constrained in the section of the section in same visual field, efficient to display investigation in the section in same visual field, efficient to display investigation in the section in same visual field, efficient to display investigation in the section in the section in the same visual field, efficient to display investigation in the section in the s				Outonlow monutil		Vour bour labola nuimour dianlou infor
 positioned; active mation in same visual fi keys can be lighted; hand/eye coordination; mation in same visual fi keys coordination; mation in same visual fixed labels per hand/eye coordination; mation overlay sheet .3 Shift keys - shift hand movement active at any time (as f among fixed alternamed altername target and the sective at any time (as f among fixed alternamed altername overlay altername and (set and for the sective at any time (as f among fixed altername altername at any time (as f among fixed altername of keyboard (usually 2 to 4) .3 Sky can be "single of keyboard (as f anothernamed altername of keyboard (usually 2 to 4) .3 Keys can be "single of keyboard (as f anothername and the sective; on althername of hand function" .1 Only labelled keys active; on althername target by programmi (linead actions" .2 Operating procedure like procedures f the procedures f the procedure sective; other through) 	 positioned; active mation in same visual field; efficient fixed labels per very overlay sheet ins; immediately adjacent to display overlay sheet 3. Shift keys - shift immediately adjacent to display ins; immediately adjacent to display active at any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift immediately adjacent to display anong fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift immediately adjacent to display anong fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift immediately adjacent to display anong fixed alter- 3. Shift keys - shift immediately adjacent to display adjacent	 positioned; active mation in same visual field; efficient keys can be lighted; fixed heles per fixed nate per set overlay sheet 3. Shift keys - shift man/eye coordination; minimizes search ing; immediately adjacent to display overlay sheet 3. Shift keys - shift man/eye coordination; minimizes search ing; immediately adjacent to display use fixed alternation in same visual field; immediately adjacent to display indicates to display indicates the search ing; immediately adjacent to display and overlay sheet 3. Shift keys - shift man/eye coordination; minimizes search ing; immediately adjacent to display indicates the search indicates				C OVERTAY - MANUALLY		Neys, key labels, primary display inior-
 keys can be lighted; fixed labels per overlay sheet fixed labels per overlay sheet fing; immediately adjacen overlay sheet Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- among fixed alter- anong fixed alter- active at any time (as f among reach any time (as f another a trans) and (as f acyboard (as f another a trans) and (as f acyboard (as f another a trans) and (as f acyboard (as f acyboard (as f acyboard (as f another a trans) and (as f another a trans) 3 Keys can be "single 3 Keys can be "single a Action area (15" CRT) = <td> keys can be lighted; fixed labels per overlay sheet fixed labels per overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- ing inmediately adjacent to display among fixed alter- ing restore any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- ing restore any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active and any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active; and anovement since (as few as 10); anong fixed alter anong fixed alter anong fixed alter and anovement since (as few as 10); anong fixed alter and anovement since (as few as 10); </td><td> keys can be lighted; fixed labels per fixed labels per ordination; mininfaces search fixed labels per overlay sheet a) Shift keys - shift a) Shift keys - shift b) Shift keys - shift correlation conservation consent streed conservation <liconservation< li=""> <liconservation<< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>positioned; active</td><td></td><td>mation in same visual field; efficient</td></liconservation<<></liconservation<></td>	 keys can be lighted; fixed labels per overlay sheet fixed labels per overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- ing inmediately adjacent to display among fixed alter- ing restore any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- ing restore any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active a any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active and any time (as few as 10); anong fixed alter- inter active; and anovement since (as few as 10); anong fixed alter anong fixed alter anong fixed alter and anovement since (as few as 10); anong fixed alter and anovement since (as few as 10); 	 keys can be lighted; fixed labels per fixed labels per ordination; mininfaces search fixed labels per overlay sheet a) Shift keys - shift a) Shift keys - shift b) Shift keys - shift correlation conservation consent streed conservation <liconservation< li=""> <liconservation<< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>positioned; active</td><td></td><td>mation in same visual field; efficient</td></liconservation<<></liconservation<>				positioned; active		mation in same visual field; efficient
<pre>fixed labels per overlay sheet .3 Shift keys - shift overlay sheet .3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- among fixed alter- among fixed alter- among fixed alter- nates per key (usually 2 to 4) .3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) .3 Keysoard (usually 2 to 4) .3 Keyboard (usually 2 to 4) .3 Keyboard (usually 2 to 4) .3 Action area (15" CRT) = line = 12" linear complete function" .4 Same label (and function "incremental function" .5 Indels naturally grouped ting procedures other inactive; no "illegal actions" .2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)</pre>	 fixed labels per overlay sheet overlay sheet overlay sheet overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift earm/hand movement since few key some later mane overlay sheet overlay s	 tixed labels per overlay sheet over				keys can be lighted;		hand/eye coordination; minimizes search-
 overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift 3 Shift keys - shift a Strive at any time (as f and function a Keys can be "single b Keyboard c Rr labeling c Rr labeling c Rr labeling c Rr labeling d Only labeled keys active; no m different keys at dif c Rr labeling d Only labeled keys active; no m different keys at dif c Rr labeling d Only labeled keys active; no m different keys at dif 	 overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- names per key (usually 2 to 4) (usually 2 to 4)<!--</td--><td> overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- among fixed alter- mong fixed alter- of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 4 Same label (and function) may appear on different keys at different times of her interver, no mond fifterent keys at different times other interver, no "illegal actions" 9 Operating procedures like programmed textbook (leads you through) </td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>fixed labels per</td><td></td><td>ing; immediately adjacent to display</td>	 overlay sheet 3 Shift keys - shift among fixed alter- among fixed alter- mong fixed alter- of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 4 Same label (and function) may appear on different keys at different times of her interver, no mond fifterent keys at different times other interver, no "illegal actions" 9 Operating procedures like programmed textbook (leads you through) 				fixed labels per		ing; immediately adjacent to display
 3 Shift keys - shift active at any time (as f among fixed alter- among fixed alter- nates per key (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keyboard (usually 2 to 4) 4 Keyboard (usually 2 to 4) 5 Fabels naturally grouped (usually 1 abelled keys active; no "illegal actions" 6 All changes by programmi (leads you through) 	 3 Shift keys - shift and alter- among fixed alter- nates per key among fixed alter- nates procedures 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 3 Keys can be "single 3 Keys can be "single 3 Keys can be "single 4 Same label (and function) may appear on different keys at different times 2 CRT labeling 3 CRT labeling 4 Same label (and function) may appear a different keys at different times a different keys at different times b different keys at different times b different keys at different times a different keys at different times b different keys at different times c f dil changes by programming (leads you through) 	 3 Shift keys - shift each of a few as 10; among fixed alternating anong fixed alternating encounter sted in one area not fixes proceeding in one area not fixes and the concentrated in one area not fixes and the concentrate not not different keys at different times interview not different keys at different times other not not not not not not not not not not				overlay sheet	~	Little arm/hand movement since few keys
<pre>among fixed alter- among fixed alter- nates per key nates per key (usually 2 to 4) (us</pre>	 among fixed alter- among fixed alter- nates per key (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single orphete function" or "incremental function" 3 Keys can be "single orphete function" 3 Keys can be "single orphete function" 4 Same label (and function) may appear on different keys at different times ting procedures 4 Operating procedures 5 All changes by programing (leads you through) 	 among fixed alter- mates per key nates per key nates per key nates per key nates per key (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single of keyboard 4 Attion area (15" CRT) = 1 character 4 Attion area (15" CRT) = 1 character 5 Attion area (15" CRT) = 1 character 6 All charges by programing 7 Operating procedures 6 All charges by programing 7 Programmed textbook 9 (leads you through) 				.3 Shift keys - shift		active at any time (as few as 10);
<pre>nates per key (usually 2 to u;) (usually 2</pre>	 nates per key (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (incertain function") (usually 2 to 4) (incertain function") (incertain functio	 nates per key (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single (usually 2 to 4) 4 Reme label (and function) may appear on different keys at different times on different keys at different times of holy labelled keys active; other inactive; no other inactive; no other inactive; no other inactive; no other inactive; of hol changes by programming (leads you through) 				among fixed alter-		labels can be concentrated in one area
 (usually 2 to 4) (usually 2 to 4) 3 Action area (15" CRT) = (and function 3 Keys can be "single (and function (b Same label (and function (cmplete function" or (b Same label (and function (cmplete function" (cmplete function (cmplete fun	 (usually 2 to 4) 3 Keys can be "single 4 Same label (and function) may appear 0 no different keys at different times 0 no different keys at different times 1 Only labelled keys active; no 1 Only labelled keys active; no 3 (no different keys at different times 4 Same label (and function) may appear 5 Inbels naturally grouped for all opera 6 All changes by programing 7 (neads you through) 	 (usually 2 to 4) 3 Ketion area (15" CRT) = 1 character 3 Keys can be "single 4 Same label (and function) may appear 5 CRT labels naturally grouped for all opera- 4 Diny labelled keys active; 6 All changes by programing 7 Operating procedures 6 All changes by programing 7 (leads you through) 				nates per key		of keyboard
 3 Keys can be "single "linear complete function" or "incremental function" or "incremental function" .4 Same label (and function "incremental function" .4 Same label (and function on different keys at dif .1 Only labelling .5 Labels naturally grouped time procedures other inactive; no "illegal actions" .6 All changes by programmi (leads you through) 	 3 Keys can be "single 3 Keys can be "single 1 Ine = 12" linear 2 complete function" or "Incremental function" 4 Same label (and function) may appear 2 CHT labelling 3 CHT labelling 4 Same label (and function) may appear 4 Same label (and function) may appear 5 CHT labelling 6 All changes by programming 7 Operating procedure like 9 programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 3 Keys can be "single 4 Same label (and function) may appear a complete function" 4 Same label (and function) may appear a complete function" 4 Same label (and function) may appear a complete function" 4 Same label (and function) may appear a complete function" b Same label (and function) may appear a complete function" b Same label (and function) may appear b Same label (and function) may appear b Same label (and function) may appear c Rr labelling d Rifferent keys at different times d Rifferent keys at different keys at different times d Rifferent keys at different k				(usually 2 to 4)	e.	Action area (15" CRT) = 1 character
 complete function" or "h Same label (and function "incremental function" cRRT labelling crutation condifferent keys at different keys at diter keys at different keys at diffe	 complete function" or "h Same label (and function) may appear "incremental function" cmr labelling cmr labelling cmr labelling cmr labelled keys active; on different keys at different times ting procedures other inactive; no "illegal actions" coperating procedure like programming (leads you through) 	 complete function" or "h Same label (and function) may appear "incremental function" CRT labeling CRT labeling CRT labeling Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times time procedures Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times I only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times I only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times Operating procedure like Programmed textbook (leads you through) 				.3 Keys can be "single		line = 12" linear
 2. CRT labelling 2. CRT labelling 3. Only labelled keys active; 4. 1 Only labelled keys active; 5. Labels naturally grouped ting procedures 6. All changes by programmic procedure like 7. Operating procedure like 7. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	 2. CRT labelling 2. CRT labelling 3. Only labelled keys active; 4. Only labelled keys active; 5. Labels naturally grouped for all operating procedures 6. All changes by programming 7. Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 2. CRT labeling 2. CRT labeling 3. Only labelied keys active; on different keys at different times ting procedures other inactive; no "in g procedures" 3. Only labelied keys active; on "in g procedures" 3. Only labelied keys active; on "in g procedures" 3. Operating procedure like programming (leads you through) 				complete function" or	4.	Same label (and function) may appear
 2. CRT labeling 3. Only labelled keys active; 4. 1 Only labelled keys active; 5. Labels naturally grouped ting procedures 6. All changes by programmi "illegal actions" 2. Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 2. CKT labelling 3. Only labelled keys active; 4. Only labelled keys active; 5. Labels naturally grouped for all operating procedures 6. All changes by programming 7. Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 2. CKT labeling 3. Only labelied keys active; ing procedures other inactive; no "inlegal actions" 3. Operating procedure like programming programming (leads you through) 3. CKT labelied keys active; ing procedures ing procedures programming in the programming in the programming in the programming programming programming programming programming programming programming in the programming p				"incremental function"		on different kevs at different times
 1 Only labelled keys active; ting procedures other inactive; no 1 Only labelled keys active; ting procedures 0 other inactions" 6 All changes by programmi 2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 1 Only labelled keys active; ting procedures 1 Only labelled keys active; in ting procedures other inactive; no illegal actions" 2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through) 	 1 Only labelled keys active; 1 Only labelled k			•	CR lahelling	v	Tabale notice and another and for all another
.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programming programming programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programming programming procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)			;	1 Only labelled boys antitue.	:	travers laver and grouped tot and opena-
.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programming programming programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)				· ATTA TANATTAN VENS ACTIVE	•	ting procedures
"illegal actions" .2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	"illegal actions" .2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	"illegal actions" .2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)				other inactive; no	•	All changes by programming
.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)	.2 Operating procedure like programmed textbook (leads you through)			•	"illegal actions"		
programmed textbook (leads you through)	programmed textbook (leads you through)	programmed textbook (leads you through)				.2 Operating procedure like		
Information and another		Information and annual				programmed textbook (leads you through)		
						Ingho ma not amont		

-69-

VARIABLE FUNCTION KEYBOARD CHARACTERISTICS

FIGURE 4.5.2

Device		Use		Operating Principles		Usage characteristics
LIGHT PEN	Poin	it at display		Active stylus (electro-optical	i l	Wire from LP to decode logic is encumbrance
	·i	Move hand from rest position to L stowage location	0.	switch, moved in possive matrix of CRT beam positions (list of addresses in com- puter memory)	à	Use usually requires more arm/hand operations than KB (see "Use" column)
	Ň	Unstow LP	s.	Switch closure interrupts	ň	Frequent gross arm/hand movements for posi- tioning
	'n	Move arm/hand/LP to display		Tight from intuminated phosphor into LP, thus indicating current CRT beam	÷	Arm/hand position fatiguing for sustained actions
	4A.	Position LP precisely	'n.	position to decode togic Decode logic interprets	5.	Requires accurate placement perpendicular to display, line-of-sight
	μB.	Actuate		UNI DEEM POSITION against cross-reference of functions	6.	Indefinite target (no physical guidance like KB) can impair speed, accuracy
	÷ •	Remove from display/restow LP				Arm/hand/LP blocks view of display adjacent to active area
	°.	Return hand to rest position			8.	Resolution can be 1 CRT beam position incre- ment (giving about 65K "active" locations)
					۰.	Display labeling more flexible than for physical KB.
					10.	Display must symbolically indicate active areas
					н.	Physically fragile
					12.	Optical receiving surface must be clean
					13.	Direct hand/eye coordination since functions in same visual field as display; can be exactly at same location as display feedback

LIGHT PEN CHARACTERISTICS FIGURE 4.5.3

-70-

4.5

Programming support similar to Touch, Variable-Function-Keyboard Works best with bare CRT faceplate (no contrast filter)

14.

Device		Use		Operating Principles		Usage characteristics
TOUCH	Pot.	nt finger at display Move arm/hand from	÷	Passive stylus (finger, pencil) moved in active matrix (electrical	i	Use usually requires more arm/hand movements than for KB
	•	rest position; deploy finger		suftches) imposed over display surface	5	Fingerprints on display surface are an annoyance display viewing
	s.	Foint finger pre-	S	Switch closure identifies	'n	Targets are distinctly outlined by CRT label
	з.	cisery Remove finger		<pre>x-y rocation of vouced display element to decode logic</pre>	ä	Resolution density limited by finger size (about 3/4" grid, or 12X16 matrix on a 9"X12" CRT, giving 196 locations)
	÷	Return arm/hand to rest position	÷	Decode logic interprets against cross-reference of functions	5.	Can be used with filtered CRT's
			Ą	Suitch machanisma	6.	Optical and sonic types rugged
						Only "active" and "legal" functions shown
				 L Urossed Wires - Iine Wires between trans- parent plastic sheets in x-y arrangement; 	8.	Can be used as dedicated functions, grouped and serially-batched functions, or dynamic- ally-variable functions
				push at intersection .2 Optical - interrupt light waves projected	ò	Large martrix size allows pattern-recognitio arrangements, and fixed locations, simultaneously
				across display surface .3 Sonic - similar with	10.	Fastest reaction time (pressing finger on disclaved item of interest)
				ultrasonic wayes h Flantnicel - "sensitized"	ä	Can provide color coding by using color CRT
				areas on faceplate sense capacitance or resistance changes	12.	Display labelling more flexible than for physical keys
				 5 Acoustic-sensors along display edges detect acoustically active pen location 	13.	Less short-term memory load than for variable keyboard, since control is implicit to display rather than associative

No. of the other o

TOUCH SCREEN CHARACTERISTICS

FIGURE 4.5.4

4.5

-71-

Usage Characteristics	. Present state-of-the-art requires trained operators, specific vocabularies, paced speech, etc.	. Can be used in combination with other manipulative techniques for redundancy	 Can recognize multi-syllabic words, phrases (word strings) 	 Requires structured speech, coded words, etc., for equal operational efficiency with single-complete-function keys 	. Very expensive	. Developmental techniques required	. Extremely flexible and potentially poverful	 Allows human input almost independent of motor-response workload 	 Almost no short-term memory load, long-term memory load comparable to other techniques. 		
	4	N	en	4	ŝ	9	7	æ	6		
Operating Principles	Computer program recognizes human speech and interprets against function library										FIGURE 4.5.5
	÷										
Use	Speak commands into microphone										
Device	VOICE										

VOICE RECOGNITION CHARACTERISTICS

4.5

-72-





4.6

1. 5. 6. 4. 5 . 1.

A Marine

4.6 Example Evaluation Tree

The philosophy of this method has now been described and its component parts identified for selecting manipulative devices. Figure 4.6 pictorially illustrates the train of thought involved for an example task. 5.0 Glossary

Aesthetics - A "quality" concept, relating the conformance of an item to some preconceived notion or stereotype of the same item. If this relationship is favorable, the item "fits in", and is said to be aesthetically pleasing. If this relation ship is disfavorable, the item fails to fit, and is said to be aesthetically displeasing.

Annunciator - Self-contained devices used to indicate, but not record, alarm conditions.

Arousal Threshold - The level of an input and/or the time it must be asserted before recognition occurs by the operator.

Bulletin Board Effect - The tendency in man/machine control centers of using all available unused panel space (and writing surfaces) for offline information. (ie. operator notes and messages)

Clock Shop - The appearance of a control room where all of the walls and panels are covered with meters, dials and knobs.

Cognition - Preception-related recall from long-term memory.

- Compatability The appropriateness of a display to a control; also of a display or a control to a task, especially related to the correllation of cause and effect. True compatability implies less need for translation by the operator.
- Console The machine side of a man/machine interface (alternate definition).

Control Room - Any center of activity for a manned system, but specifically one which contains a man/machine interface.

- Display A visual information transmission device which is driven by some form of instrumentation (alternate definition).
- Glyph Figure or symbol used as an abstraction of some physical reality or event.

Iconic Communication - Communication presentation by visual imagry, especially those which move and change with time.

Job - A set of tasks assigned to some person (alternate definition).

Key Operator - A person trained and responsible for a given operation.

Man/Machine Interface - The interface between man and machine, where man's output is translated into machine input and vice versa.

Man/Machine System - A system in which a man is a component and a contributing factor to the system performance (the manned portion of a system could be a considered sub-system).

Noise - Any input to a system that does not contribute to the usable output of the system. (Alternate definition).

Off-Line - Matters indirectly related to machine, such as documentation. (Alternate definition).

On-Line - Matters directly related to machine in "real-time". (Can be man-to-man communication). (Alternate definition).

- Preception Sensory information gained through the use of short-term memory.
- Population Sterotypes Tradition, convention, or commonly expected behavior or characteristics. Associated with a particular population group (for example; reading from left to right, top to bottom; right handed threads, etc.).
- Sign A sign is any information display which is not connnected to instrumentation and is never interactive with respect to feed-back and control. (Alternate definition).
- Task- An operation to be accomplished within a system by either man or machine. (Alternate definition).
- Task Analysis Analyzing or dissecting what is functionally being accomplished, and classifying its component parts.

- Task Description Complete item-by-item specification of the individual tasks, which taken together, comprise the total job activity of the operator.
- Task Synthesis Assembling the individually specified components of a function in order to comprise his whole.
- Top Down Abstracted analysis of what is to be accomplished, without arbitrary constraint, but rather guided by requirements of the ultimate end-result or goal. This approach requies the definition of the system and its attendant problems before approaching the methods of solution.
- Trending Recorder A data recording of the immediate past behavior of a process. Used to extrapolate the behavior of the process in the immediate future.
- Trivia Apparently arbitrary representations or translations of real world events; anything which masks or occludes valid information.
- Transparent That which is intuitively obvious or straight forward, requiring little or no translation.

5.1 SUPPLEMENTARY GLOSSARY

-78-

The following list of terms are used in the general area of the design of man/machine interfaces and have already been defined by the industrial digital computer terminology dictionary prepared by the glossary committee of Purdue workshop on standardization of industrial computer languages.

Alarm	Analog	Backup
Channel	Communication	Computer Console
Console	Control	Control System
Conversational Mode	CRT Display	Data
Digital	Display	Emmulate
Event	Graphic	Hard Copy
Hierarchy	Information	Interface
Interlock	Joy Stick	Loop
Manual Operation	Mode	Noise
Off-Line	On-Line	Operator
Optimize	Plot	Process
Rank	Record	Reliability
Remote Stations	Selection	System

Task

6.0 Bibliography

ALPHABETICAL LIST OF ARTICLES PRESENTLY IN MAN/MACHINE FILE as of 11/08/74 () indicates reference # assigned Advanced Comcepts in Control Room Planning (73) W. G. Milam, G. J. Peterman, M. D. Sulouff Instrumentation Technology, July, 1973 Advanced Control and Dispatch Program (Human Factors Guideline) (119)U.S. Department of Interior, 28 April, 1973 Advanced Design of a Central Operator Console for Process Control (53)Renzo Dallimonti ISA International Conference, Houston, Texas, Oct., 1973 Alphanumeric Color Display Unit Model D-20 (68)Performance Specification. Philco-Ford Corporation, SE-08799A. Alphanumeric Display Terminal Survey (21) Richard A. McLaughlin Datamation, November, 1973 Are Process Control Rooms Obsolete? (57)A. H. McMorris, J. L. Kelleway, B. Tapadia and E. L. Dohmann Control Engineering, July, 1971 Arrangement of Central Building Complex (131)P. J. Corcoron, Becktel Power Corporation, San Francisco, California IAEA Spec. Meeting, July 24-25, 1974, San Francisco, California Behind the Front Panel (27)Roy Udolf, Irving Gilbert IEEE Spectrum, May, 1973 The Central Control Room Man-Machine Interface (30)at the Clinton P. Anderson Meson Physics Facility (LAMPF) B. L. Hartway, J. Bergstein, C. M. Plopper IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. NS-20, No. 3, June, 1973 Characteristics of Visual Display Terminals (20)Brent D. Braddock Telecommunications, November, 1973 Color C.R.T. Terminals for Supervisory Control (65)Herman E. Sheffield, Jr. Computer Design, March, 1972 Coloured Grapic Display - An Aid in Reactor Core Supervision and Control (128) S. Malmskoz and R. M. Versluis OECD Holden Reactor Project, Norway

A Compact Programmable Control Panel - by B. L. Hartway (66)IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. NS-20, No. 3, June, 1973 A Computer Based Accelerator Control System (114)Harold S. Butler ISA Conference Phil. October 26-29, 1970 Computer Graphics - The Real Problem (97)A. R. Rundle British Computer Society, Datafair '73 April 10-12, 1973 The Computer-Operator Interface (80)J. L. Kern Control Engineering, September, 1966 From Concepts to Implementation: A Systematic Approach to the (129) Control Center Design Process J. W. Yeirs Jr., M. D. Sulouff and J. T. Price Nuclear Power Systems, Windsor, Connecticut Spec. Meeting Control Room Design, July 24-25, 1975 (124)The Control Consoles and NODAL Language for the CERN 400 GeV Accelerator G. Shering September 25, 1975 (130)Control Panel Evolution in the Canadian Nuclear Power Program J. E. Smith, R. E. Ashwell and R. G. West Atomic Energy of Canada Limited IAEA. Spec. Meeting Control Room Design, July 24-25, 1975 San Francisco, California (138)The Control Room - An Integrated Part of the Power Plant Control System H. P. Stoeckler and H. Zinke IAEA Spec. Meeting, July 1975, San Francisco, California Do Control Room Designers Have Adequate Bases for Computer Displays (139)L. P. Goodstein and O. M. Pedersen IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California (56)CRT Consoles New Look in Control Rooms Noel R. Strader II Chemical Engineering, April 30, 1973 CRT Control Center for a Multi-Loop Process (58)V. A. Lauher, D. W. Weinrich and R. K. Underwood Instrumentation Technology, September, 1970 CRT Displays in Process Control Instrument Engineers' Handbook - Supplement One (99)Chilton Book Company

-80-

CRT Graphics Consoles - An Aid to Selection (100)Lesley D. Jacobs AD-734 247, Rome Air Development Center, Griffiss Air Force, NY CRT Interfaces for a Continuous Plant (111)R. S. Crowder Instrumentation Technology, January, 1971 (61)CRT Terminals Make Versatile Control Computer Interfaces R. L. Aronson Control Engineering, April, 1970 Current and Future Graphic Displays for Military Systems (28)C. Weitzman Computer Design, February, 1973 Current Practice and Future Trends in the Design of Control Rooms for (141)Nuclear Power Plant J. A. Golder IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California (76)The Data Aspects of Supervisory Control R. J. Liss, S. A. Green Instrumentation Technology, January, 1973 Design Aspects of Multi-Unit Control Centres for Ontario Hydro's Nuclear (132)Generating Statistics E. F. Fenton, H. C. Makon IAEA Spec. Meeting, July 20-25, 1975, San Francisco, California Design of Man-Computer Interface for On-Line Interactive Systems William B. Rouse Proceeding of IEEE, Vol. 63, No. 6, June 1975 Designing an Operator Oriented Nuclear Plant Control Station (135)Mark S. Mazzetti IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California Development of a Man-Machine Communication System Through Top-Down Design (121)B. Loebichler, J. Muhlbacher Angenande Informatik, October, 1974 Display and Input Software for On-Line Control (86)P. G. Bishop C.E.G.B. report, Leatherhead Electronic Displays: Interface between Man and Machine (93)Carill Sharpe Design Engineering, December, 1971 Electronic Engineers' Handbook, First Edition, McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1975 Donald G. Fink, Editor-in-Chief, Section 24-20 "The Operator/Process Interface" R. A. Williamson, Jr.

-81-

Energy Control (Control Rooms) (77)Philco-Ford Corporation Brochure Evaluating the Man-Display Interface (52)Capt. Keith T. Burnette The Electronic Engineer, July, 1972 Experience with Touch Panel Control at SLAC (23)W. C. Struven IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. NS-20, No. 3, June, 1973 Experimental Operation of the Halden Reactor, Utilizing a Computor and Color (127) Display - based Control Room K. Netland, J. E. Lunde OECD Halden Reactor Project, Norway Experimental Display with Input by Light Gate Field Selection (88)Peter Salminger Information Processing - Graphics and Displays North-Holland Publishing Company (1972) A Flexible, Low Cost Alphanumeric Display (75)P. D. Dimo, A. J. Gayraud, N. N. Popovici Computer Design, June, 1973 (55)Flickerless Regeneration Rates for CRT Displays as a Function of Scan Order and Phosphor Persistence Amanda B. Dill and John D. Gould Human Factors, October, 1970, 465-471 (64)Future Operator Consoles for Improved Decision Making and Safety R. Dallimonti Instrumentation Technology, August, 1972 Getting the Right CRT Terminal (96)Ed Zimmer Electronics Products, February 18, 1974 Getting Your Message Across Most Effectively (22) John E. Hendricks Electronics Products, October 15, 1973 (51) A Glossary of Graphics Display Terms C. S. Wegnar (Source Unknown) Human Engineering Design Criteria for Military Systems (72)一川川小田を見 Military Standard 1472 MIL-STD-1472, March, 1968 (25)Human Engineering Guide for Equipment Designers Wesley E. Woodson and Donald W. Conover University of California Press, 1970

-82-

Human Factors Principles for Keyboard Design and Operation (69)Honeywell Systems and Research Division Prepared for Post Office Dept. Bureau of Research & Eng., March, 1970 Human Factors Study for Touch Operated Keyboards (70)Honeywell Systems and Research Division Prepared for Microswitch, March, 1969 The Incidence and Effects at the Man-Computer Interface of Failure (115)to Optimize the Display R. G. Green, R. A. Edenborough Conf. on Displays, September 7-10, 1971 Industrial Robots - World Wide Survey (105)A Multiclient Study, Robotronics and Technics Ltd., Aarau, Switzerland IEE Standards Relating to Control Room Design (140)A. J. Spurgin, W. G. Schwartz IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California The Influence of Keyset Interlocks on Operator Performance (71)Honeywell Systems and Research Division Prepared for Microswitch - Contract P.O. 08132 Information Display in Process Control Elwyn Edwards, F. P. Lees Conf. on Displays, September 7-10, 1971 (81) An Innovation in Control Panel for Large Computer Control System D. Fryberger, R. Johnson Stanford University, Stanford Linear Accelerator Center Interactive CRT Display Terminals Part 2 (79)Edward N. Chase, Dr. Donald B. Brick Interactive CRT Terminals, Part II - Alphanumeric CRT Terminals & Systems (102)Robert A. O'Hare Modern Data, June 1971 Interactive Graphic Consoles - Environment and Software (90)Robert L. Beckermeyer Fall Joint Computer Conference, 1970 Instrument Engineers' Handbook, Supplement One to Volumes I and II Chilton Book Company, 1972, Bela G. Liptak, Editor Chapter III "Human Engineering, Readouts, and Displays" R. A. Williamson, Jr., et al) An Interactive Keyboard for Man-Computer Communication (89)Larry L. Wear, R. C. Dorf Spring Joint Computer Conference, 1970

-83-
Interactive Man-Machine Communications (83)T. O. Ellis, J. F. Heafner, W. L. Sibley Instruments and Control Systems, January, 1971 The Key to Keyboards (85)S. Beddoe Electronics & Power, May, 1972 (26)Keyswitch and Keyboard Selection for Computer Peripherals Sidney Davis Computer Design, March, 1973 (54)Legibility of Symbols on CRT Displays Allen G. Vartabedian Applied Ergonomics, September, 1971 (60) Look Out for the Gray Areas When Specifying CRT's Robert Bell Electronic Products, June 18, 1973 (91)Low-Cost Remote CRT Terminals D. J. Theis, L. C. Hobbs Datamation, June, 1968 (117)Man as Information Receiver in Diagnostic Tasks Jens Rasmussen Conf. on Displays, September 7-10, 1971 Man-Computer Interaction: A Challenge for Human Factors Research R. S. Nickerson Ergonomics, Vol 12, No. 4, July, 1969 Man-Machine Communication Interface (123)T. Tohyama Process Interface Committee, JEIPA and Purdue Workshop, October 8, 1975 Man-Machine Communication of Microprocessor Oriented Process Controller (120)T. Tohyama Purdue Workshop, October 10, 1975 Man-Machine-Process Communications: A New Dimension Introduced by (92)the Use of the CRT Operator Colsole Bianchedi Ing. Enrico Foxboro Italia, S.p.A. Man-Machine Studies of a Computer Based Console for BWR Plant Operation (122)T. Fukuzaki, S. Kishi, K. Kiyokawa, M. Serizawa Atomic Energy Research Lab, Hitachi, Japan (74)Microprogramming Kjell Hovik Electronics Products, April 19, 1971

-84-

6.0

(59)New Designs for Process Control Consoles R. Dallimonti Instrumentation Technology, November, 1973 The Nuclear Control Room - Experience Directs the Future (134)R. T. Jones IAEA Spec. Meeting, July 20-25, 1975, San Francisco, California Nuclear Power Electronics: Industry with a Long Future (104)John F. Mason Electronic Design 15, July 19, 1973 On Line Circuit Simulation for the EMR-6050/AGT-30 System (107)H. W. Council and J. D. Buckner NASA George Marshall Flight Center, North American Corp. () Operational Aspects of the SLAC Main Control Center K. Crook, T. V. Hoang, G. Nelson, J. Price An Operator's Console for Lampf Accelerator (82)H. S. Bulter, B. L. Hartway, D. R. Machen, T. M. Putnam Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory, Univ. of California, Los Alamos, NM Operator Interface Requirements for Nuclear Generating Station (137)W. A. Coley, R. S. Drake IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California The Perception of Flicker in Cathode Ray Tube Displays (62)Roger Emo Turnage, Jr. Information Display, May-June, 1966 Power Plant Computer System Reliability and Availability (133)Thomas G. Schultz IAEA Spec Meeting, July 20-25, 1975, San Francisco, California PROCOS (Process Control Oriented Software System) Introduction For (108)Japan Electronic Industry Development Association 1974 A Proposal for a Standardized Industrial Computer Control System (110)Ted J. Williams P.L.A.I.C., Purdue University, 1972 Remote Control and Navigation Tests - Lunar Rover (109)NASA, George C. Marshall Flight Center, Alabama NASA TM-X 64621 Remote Information Retrieval Facility (103)Roger K. Summit NASA CR-1318 - Lockheed Aircraft Corporation Requirements for Dialogue Software in Process Control (125)J. P. Scanlon Joint Meeting TC MMC-E and TC POL-E, 1975 Response Time in Man-Computer Conversational Transactions (112)Robert B. Miller A FIPS Conference Proc., Vol. 33, Part 1, 1968 FJCC

-85-

6.0

Safety System - Operator Interfaces During Abnormal Conditions (136)J. G. Brooks, C. H. Meijer IAEA Spec. Meeting, July, 1975, San Francisco, California (50)Seven Design Constraints Often Imposed at the Man-Machine Interface Interswitch, Burlingame, California 94010 Item 9001-305, June, 1971. Some Aspects of Human Factors in Terminal Design (87)P. C. R. Craft British European Airways Report Some Notes on Measuring Performance of Phosphors used in CRT Displays (67)J. E. Bryden S.I.D. National Symposium, Boston, Massachusetts, October, 1966 (84)Systems Engineering Problems in Computer-Driven C.R.T. Displays for Man-Machine Communications J. Ward IEEE Transactions on Systems Science and Cybernetics, Vol. SSC-3, No. 1, June, 1967 Terminals: The Human Factor (95) P. C. R. Craft British European Airways Report, 1971 (106)Terminals: Human Factor Considerations John E. Buckley Associates Computer Design, July, 1974 TRIIG, Time-Lapse Reproduction of Images through Initiative Graphes (101)James D. Buckner, Harold W. Council, Thomas R. Edwards NASA, Marshall Space Flight Center The Use of Computer Driver Displays in the Supervision and Control of Large Power Systems K. C. Mohan Rao Conf. on Displays, September 7-10, 1971 Visual Displays for Computer (94)Joseph E. Bryden Computer Design, October, 1971 (63)Visual Displays Using Pseudo-Random Dot Scan Sid Deutsch Proceedings of the S.I.D. Vol. 12/3, Third Quarter, 1971 (78)What's New in Small Displays IEEE Spectrum, 1972

-86-

6.0

6.1 SUPPLEMENTARY LISTING OF MAN-MACHINE INTERFACE ARTICLES AND BOOKS

-87-

"Achievement Motive and Tect Anxiety Concieved as Motive to Approach Success and Motive to Avoid Failure", J. W. Atkinson, G. H. Litwin, Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 1960, 60, 52-63.

"Archetypes in Man-Computer Problem Solving", R. B. Miller, IEEE Trans. on Man-Machine Systems, Vol. MMS 10, No. 4, Dec. 1969

"Conference on Displays", English IEE Publication No. 80, 1971.

"Design of Man Computer Dialogs", James Martin. Prentice Hall, Publisher.

"Display Design: Principles and Procedures", W. R. Singleton, IEEE Transactions on Man-Machine Systems, Vol. MMS 10, No. 4, Dec. 1969.

"Handbook of Industrial Control Computers", T. J. Harrison, Wiley-Interscience, Publisher.

"Human Engineering Guide for Equipment Designers" 2nd Edition, Woodson and Conover, University of California Press, 1970.

"Human Engineering Guide to Equipment Design", (Rev. Edition) H. P. Van Cott and R. G. Kinkade, Editors. U. S. Gov't. Printing Office.

"Human Engineering Guide to Equipment Design", C. T. Morgan, J. S. Cook III, A. Chapanis, M. W. Lund (editor). New York: McGraw-Hill, 1963.

"Human Factors and the Consumer: The Aesthetic Factor", F. Del Coates, Proceedings of the 17th Annual Meeting of the Human Factors Society, Oct. 1973.

"The Human Factors", M. Eleccion, Associate Editor, IEEE Spectrum, Nov. 1974.

"Human Factors in the Design of Systems", W. H. Sinaiko, E. P. Buckley, NRL Report 4996, Naval Research Lab, Wash., D. C., August 29, 1957.

"The Human Operator in Complex Systems", W. T. Singleton, R. S. Easterby, D. C. Whitfield (Editors, Taylor and Francis, London, 1967.

"The Human Operator in Process Control", Elwyn Edwards and Frank P. Lees (Editors), Taylor and Francis, London, 1975.

"Man and Computer in Process Control", Wlwyn Edwards and Frank P. Lees, Taylor and Francis, London, 1975 "Man-Computer Problem Solving", Harold Sackman. Auerbach Publishers, Inc.

"Man-Machine Engineering", Alphonse Chapanis, Wadsworth Press, 1965.

"Man-Machine Systems", W. T. Singleton, Penguin Books Ltd., 1974.

"Man-Machine System Experiments", H. M. Parsons, John Hopkins Press, 1972.

"Mathematical Models of Human Pilot Behavior", Duane J. McRuer, Ezra S. Krendel, AGARDograph No. 188, Jan. 1974.

"Measurement of Man at Work", W. T. Singleton, J. G. Fox, and D. Whitfield (Editors), Taylor and Francis, London, 1971.

"A New Problem Arises to Plague Users: Panel Clutter", Morris Grossman, Associate Editor, Electronic Design, Nov. 22, 1974.

"Power Plant Controls: Displays, Computers and Man", Gadi Kaplan, Associate Editor, IEEE Spectrum, Nov. 1974.

"Progress in Direct Digital Control", T. J. Williams and F. M. Ryan, Instrument Society of America, Publisher.

"Total System Development for Information Systems", Frank G. Kirk, John Wiley and Sons, 1973.

"A Tutorial Introduction to Decision Theory", D. W. North, IEEE Trans. on Systems, Science, and Cybernetics, Vol. SSC-4, No. 3, Sept. 1968.

"Unobtrusive Measures: Nonreactive Research in the Social Sciences", Eugene J. Webb, et al., Rand McNally College Pub. Co., Chicago 1966.

"Visual Factors in the Design of Computer Controlled CRT Displays", John D. Gould, Human Factors, Vol. 10, No. 4, August 1968, pp. 359-375.

"Words, Words, Words", Alphonse Chapanis. Presidential Address at Eighth Annual Meeting of Human Factors Society, Washington, D.C., Oct. 20, 1964.